

KERRI HUNTER

THE CYSTEINE-RICH RECEPTOR-LIKE KINASE CRK2 DURING STRESS RESPONSES IN ARABIDOPSIS THALIANA



VIIKKI PLANT SCIENCE CENTRE FACULTY OF BIOLOGICAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCES DOCTORAL PROGRAMME IN PLANT SCIENCES UNIVERSITY OF HELSINKI Faculty of Biological and Environmental Sciences Doctoral Programme in Plant Sciences (DPPS) University of Helsinki Finland

THE CYSTEINE-RICH RECEPTOR-LIKE KINASE CRK2 DURING STRESS RESPONSES IN ARABIDOPSIS THALIANA

Kerri Alyssa Hunter

ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be presented, with the permission of the Faculty of Biological and Environmental Sciences of the University of Helsinki, for public examination in lecture hall B5, Forest Sciences Building (Latokartanonkaari 7), on Friday December 13th at 12 o'clock noon.

Helsinki 2019

Supervisor	Dr. Michael Wrzaczek Faculty of Biological and Environmental Sciences University of Helsinki, Finland
Thesis Committee	Dr. Kristiina Himanen Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry University of Helsinki, Finland
	Dr. Markku Varjosalo Institute of Biotechnology University of Helsinki, Finland
Reviewers	Dr. Yoselin Benitez-Alfonso Faculty of Biological Sciences University of Leeds, United Kingdom
	Dr. Martin Potocký Institute of Experimental Botany Czech Academy of Sciences, Czech Republic
Opponent	Prof. Melinka Butenko Faculty of Mathematics and Natural Sciences University of Oslo, Norway
Custos	Prof. Jaakko Kangasjärvi Faculty of Biological and Environmental Sciences University of Helsinki, Finland

The Faculty of Biological and Environmental Sciences uses the Urkund system (plagiarism recognition) to examine all doctoral dissertations.

ISBN 978-951-51-5626-6 (paperback) ISBN 978-951-51-5627-3 (PDF)

ISSN 2342-5423 (print) ISSN 2342-5431 (online)

Unigrafia Oy Helsinki 2019 "For what it's worth, it was worth all the while."

Green Day – Good Riddance

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	7
Author's contributions:	8
ABBREVIATIONS	9
ABSTRACT1	0
1. INTRODUCTION1	1
1.1 Plants in a changing environment1	1
1.1.1 Abiotic stress1	1
1.1.1.1 Salt stress1	2
1.1.2 Biotic stress1	2
1.1.3 Interaction of stresses1	3
1.1.4 Arabidopsis as a model species1	3
1.2 Perception of environmental stimuli1	4
1.2.1 Protein kinases1	4
1.2.1.1 Kinase domains and activation1	5
1.2.1.2 Kinases in plants1	5
1.2.1.3 Receptor-like kinases1	6
1.2.1.4 Cysteine-rich receptor-like kinases1	6
1.3 Cellular responses to stimuli perception1	7
1.3.1 Ca ²⁺ elevation1	7
1.3.2 ROS production1	8
1.3.3 Ca ²⁺ and ROS in long distance signalling1	9
1.3.4 Lipid signalling2	0
1.3.4.1 Phospholipase D2	1
1.4 Plasmodesmata and intercellular signalling2	2
1.4.1 Callose deposition2	2
1.4.2 Plasmodesmata and stress2	2
2. AIMS OF THE STUDY	4
3. MATERIALS AND METHODS	5
4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	7
4.1 The CRKs are involved in stress responses and development	7

4.1.1 CRK2 is an evolutionarily conserved CRK with central signalling	
functions	27
4.1.1.1 CRK2 is an active kinase	28
4.2 CRK2 enhances salt tolerance	28
4.2.1 CRK2 interacts with other proteins involved in salt tolerance	29
4.2.2 CRK2 regulates salt-induced callose deposition and plasmodesmal permeability	29
4.2.3 CRK2 regulates formation of an unknown vesicle type	30
4.3 CRK2 regulates RBOHD and ROS production	33
4.4 CRK2 exhibits stress-specific patterns of subcellular localization	34
4.5 The subcellular localization and cellular functions of CRK2 are dependent of PLDa1 activity	on 35
5. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES	37
6. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	39
7. REFERENCES	41

ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

- I. Bourdais, G., Burdiak, P., Gauthier, A., Nitsch, L., Salojärvi, J., Rayapuram, C., Idänheimo, N., Hunter, K., Kimura, S., Merilo, E., Vaattovaara, A., Oracz, K., Kaufholdt, D., Pallon, A., Anggoro, D.T., Glów, D., Lowe, J., Zhou, J., Mohammadi, O., Puukko, T., Albert, A., Lang, H., Ernst, D., Kollist, H., Brosché, M., Durner, J., Borst, J.W., Collinge, D.B., Karpiński, S., Lyngkjær, M.F., Robatzek, S., Wrzaczek, M., Kangasjärvi, J., on behalf of the CRK Consortium, 2015. Large-Scale Phenomics Identifies Primary and Fine-Tuning Roles for CRKs in Responses Related to Oxidative Stress. PLOS Genet. 11, e1005373. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1005373
- II. Hunter, K., Kimura, S., Rokka, A., Tran, H.C., Toyota, M., Kukkonen, J.P., Wrzaczek, M., 2019. CRK2 Enhances Salt Tolerance by Regulating Callose Deposition in Connection with PLDα1. Plant Physiol. 180, 2004. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.19.00560
- III. Kimura, S., Hunter, K., Vaahtera, L., Tran, H.C., Vaattovaara, A., Rokka, A., Stolze, S.C., Harzen, A., Meißner, L., Wilkens, M., Hamann, T., Toyota, M., Nakagami, H., Wrzaczek, M., 2019. CRK2 and C-terminal phosphorylation of NADPH oxidase RBOHD regulate ROS production in Arabidopsis. Submitted manuscript; pre-print at bioRxiv 618819. https://doi.org/10.1101/618819

The original papers are reprinted in this dissertation with the permission of the copyright holders.

Author's contributions:

- I. KH participated in the creation of complementation lines for CRK2, CRK5, CRK10, CRK31, CRK40, CRK42, and CRK45 (cloning, Arabidopsis transformation and selection), plant size and water loss complementation assays, and editing of the manuscript.
- II. KH participated in experimental design, performed experiments (cloning, Arabidopsis transformation and selection, genotyping, RT-PCR, transient transformations and experiments with *Nicotiana benthamiana* and Arabidopsis seedlings, immunnoprecipitations for proteomics analysis, germination assays, root length assays, western blots, microscopy, callose assays, plasmodesmata permeability assays, fluo-4-AM calcium imaging), analyzed the data, and wrote the manuscript.
- III. KH participated in experimental design, performed experiments (cloning, Arabidopsis transformation and selection, microscopy, callose assays), participated in data analysis, and participated in the writing and editing of the manuscript.

ABBREVIATIONS

ABA	abscisic acid	
Arabidopsis	Arabidopsis thaliana	
ATP	adenosine triphosphate	
CALS	callose synthase	
CDK	cyclin-dependent kinase	
CDPK	calcium-dependent kinase	
CRK	cysteine-rich receptor-like kinase	
DAMP	damage-associate molecular pattern	
DUF26	domain of unknown function 26	
ETI	effector-triggered immunity	
HEK293T	human embryonic kidney 293T cell line	
MAMP	microbe-associated molecular pattern	
МАРК	mitogen activated protein kinase	
PA	phosphatidic acid	
PC	phosphatidylcholine	
PE	phosphatidylethanolamine	
PG	phosphatidylglycerol	
PH	plekstrin homology	
PLD	phospholipase D	
PRR	pattern recognition receptor	
PTI	pattern-triggered immunity	
PX	phox homology	
RBOH	respiratory burst oxidase homolog	
RLCK	receptor-like cytoplasmic kinase	
RLK	receptor-like kinase	
ROS	reactive oxygen species	
YFP	yellow fluorescent protein	

ABSTRACT

In order to maintain health, growth, and productivity, plants must be able to adapt to increasingly variable environmental conditions. Plants are continuously flooded with information from their surrounding environment, which must be sensed, incorporated, and responded to accordingly. Much of the communication between plant cells and the extracellular environment is carried out by the receptor-like protein kinases (RLKs), including the cysteine-rich receptor-like kinase (CRK) subfamily. Despite the large size of the CRK gene family, their physiological roles and functions on a biochemical and cellular level remain largely uncharacterized. We performed large scale phenotyping of a crk T-DNA mutant collection in Arabidopsis thaliana (Arabidopsis), which suggested roles for the CRKs in several developmental processes, as well as during abiotic and biotic stress responses. CRK2 emerged as an important CRK, with several strong loss-of-function phenotypes and a notable phylogenetic position. We established that CRK2 enhances salt tolerance through the regulation of callose synthase 1 (CALS1) dependent callose deposition at plasmodesmata. This revealed a previously uncharacterized role for callose deposition in response to high salinity. We showed that this callose deposition has an effect on plasmodesmal permeability, and therefore a potential impact on intercellular signalling. Additionally, CRK2 was found to regulate the formation of an unknown vesicle type during salt stress, which could possibly be involved in cellto-cell signalling as well. We have described how CRK2 regulates ROS production during immunity by regulation of RBOHD via C-terminal phosphorylation. We observed highly specific changes in the subcellular localization of CRK2 in response to various stress treatments, and demonstrated that these localization patterns are critical for protein function and interactions. The subcellular localization and many of the cellular functions of CRK2 were dependent on phospholipase D alpha 1 (PLDa1) activity, and PLDa1 was consistently identified as one of the top proteins to interact with CRK2. Thus, we propose that CRK2 is a fundamental CRK, which acts in connection with PLDa1 to regulate several cellular processes during the response to environmental stimuli.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Plants in a changing environment

Plant life comprises approximately 80% of Earth's total biomass (Bar-On et al., 2018) and is essential for supporting life in numerous ways. Plants provide a means for carbon fixation and oxygen production through photosynthesis, they affect landscape and soil architecture, and they provide habitats and nutrition for organisms throughout the biosphere. From a human perspective, plants also represent vast economic interests, including agriculture, forestry, horticulture, pharmaceuticals, cosmetics, and more recently biofuels. However, due to a growing human population and the expansion of urban and industrialized areas, combined with environmental shifts due in part to a changing climate, plants are increasingly exposed to less than ideal growth conditions (Fedoroff et al., 2010; World Meteorological Organization, 2019). As sessile organisms, there is no option for plants to move away from causes of stress or seek out more favorable conditions. Therefore, in order to survive, plants must be able to adapt to their environment, including both short term immediate responses and long term evolutionary changes.

Individual plant cells are continuously inundated with information from the surrounding micro and macro environment. Chemical changes, osmotic pressure, water availability, light levels, temperature, pH, physical wounding, and invading pathogens are all examples of environmental factors which, if not optimal, can provoke stress in the plant. Thus, in order to maintain health and growth, these changes must be sensed and responded to accordingly. In addition, since plants are multicellular organisms, signals from individual cells need to be integrated and communicated to the rest of the plant. Plants exposed to suboptimal conditions may be unable to germinate or survive, or may require more resources, due to increased energy expenditure devoted to stress responses instead of growth, all leading to decreased plant health, growth, and overall agricultural productivity (Machado and Serralheiro, 2017; Shrivastava and Kumar, 2015). If the goal is to produce plants with increased stress tolerance, either through traditional breeding or genetic engineering, it is imperative to first develop a more thorough understanding of the factors causing these stresses, as well as the underlying mechanisms and molecular pathways leading to tolerance.

1.1.1 Abiotic stress

Abiotic stress refers to stress-inducing stimuli of a non-living origin. This includes such things as salt, drought, flooding, heat, cold, heavy metals, and nutrient deficiency. These factors may be present to varying degrees in an environment, and may be dependent on the long term geographical and climate constraints, as well as shorter term weather patterns and human impact. Accordingly, different plant species and populations are likely to have differential inherent tolerances to these various environmental conditions. Temperature, water availability, and salt content are considered the main abiotic factors affecting the global distribution of plants, agricultural sustainability, and food security (Zhu, 2016).

1.1.1.1 Salt stress

One major category of abiotic stress is salt stress, referring specifically to NaCl. Soil with high salt content is becoming increasingly more prevalent, especially across irrigated agricultural land. Recent estimates have categorized at least 20% of the total cultivatable land as affected by high salinity (FAO and ITPS, 2015). This is problematic due to the fact that the majority of crop species are not inherently salt tolerant, thus high salinity poses a widespread threat to agricultural productivity (Yang and Guo, 2017).

An environment with high salt concentrations imposes various ecological, physical, and physiological stresses on the life it supports. Salt content affects soil composition and erosion, as well as nutrient and water uptake by the plant (Shrivastava and Kumar, 2015). On a cellular level, high salinity exerts both an osmotic and ionic stress, and can disturb membrane integrity, ionic balances and membrane potentials, and the transport and balance of water, nutrients, and solutes (Machado and Serralheiro, 2017). Thus, there is a multitude of ways in which high salinity can affect plant health and growth, and accordingly, salt tolerance is a complex and multifaceted process. The cellular responses to increased salt concentrations are currently known to include: calcium influx (Choi et al., 2014; Knight et al., 1997; Tracy et al., 2008), activation of NADPH oxidase RESPIRATORY BURST OXIDASE HOMOLOGS (RBOHs) and reactive oxygen species (ROS) production (Ma et al., 2012), activation of phospholipase D (PLD) and phosphatidic acid (PA) production (Hong et al., 2010; Li et al., 2009), changes in plasma membrane composition and formation of microdomains (Elkahoui et al., 2004; Hao et al., 2014; López-Pérez et al., 2009; Wu et al., 1998), cell wall modifications (Tenhaken, 2015), and increased endocytosis of various receptors and channels (Baral et al., 2015), notably aquaporins to regulate water transport (Li et al., 2011; Luu et al., 2011; Ueda et al., 2016). However, a complete understanding of the integration and regulation of these processes is still lacking.

1.1.2 Biotic stress

As the name suggests, biotic stress encompasses all stress-inducing stimuli of a biological origin. Pathogen infection is one extensively studied area of biotic stress, and includes bacterial, fungal, and viral pathogens. Plant-pathogen interactions are complex and continuously evolving, and pathogens have been of considerable concern to agriculture throughout history, and remain so today (Wirthmueller et al., 2013). Agricultural practices of planting large areas of uniform crops, or

monocultures, can further increase the risk of disease outbreaks (Newton, 2016). Another major source of biotic stress comes from herbivory, whereby animals or insects cause physical damage to the plant by feeding on it (War et al., 2018, 2012).

The immune response in plants can be divided into two stages: pattern-triggered immunity (PTI) and effector-triggered immunity (ETI). PTI acts as the first layer of defence; it is triggered when pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) perceive specific microbe-associated molecular patterns (MAMPs) or damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) (Boller and Felix, 2009; Boller and He, 2009). Some pathogens are able to suppress PTI using effector proteins which are transferred into the cell. Therefore, the second layer of defence, ETI, is aimed at recognition of these effector proteins (Jones and Dangl, 2006). In many cases, some signalling components and mechanisms overlap between PTI and ETI; therefore, the specificity of outcomes may be derived instead from the timing, amplitude, or interaction of the various responses elicited by the pathogen (Tsuda and Katagiri, 2010).

1.1.3 Interaction of stresses

Stress impacts plants not only in the elicitation of a direct response to that stimulus, but also through its negative effect on growth, development, and symbiotic interactions (Atkinson and Urwin, 2012; de Souza et al., 2016; Mittler, 2006; Pandey et al., 2017). Various stress stimuli, while quite different in origin, share some of the same signalling network components and cellular responses, and therefore may interact and produce different outcomes than each singular stress alone. Some stresses have been shown to have additive effects, such as drought and heat (Mittler, 2006), whereas others may have protective effects, such as ozone and UV light (Mittler, 2006). Global warming has caused an increase in the prevalence of multiple stress combinations experienced concurrently (Pandey et al., 2017). Abiotic stress, on both a short time scale and long term climate change, can also influence the prevalence, severity, and outcomes of biotic stresses (Atkinson and Urwin, 2012).

1.1.4 Arabidopsis as a model species

Arabidopsis thaliana (Arabidopsis) is the most commonly used model species in plant research. Arabidopsis makes for a good model species due to its relatively short life cycle, capacity for both cross- and self-pollination, small size, ease of growth in laboratory and other controlled environments, a fully sequenced genome, and the availability of tools and resources for genetic manipulation (Koornneef and Meinke, 2010). Generating transgenic Arabidopsis plants is now relatively easy and reproducible using the *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* (Agrobacteria) based transformation method. This has enabled: directed expression (including overexpression, ectopic expression, and inducible expression) of specific genes; production of tagged proteins for biochemical or microscopy applications; and expression of reporter genes, to monitor specific conditions, such as pH (Moseyko

and Feldman, 2001; Schulte et al., 2006) or Ca²⁺ (Allen et al., 1999; Horikawa et al., 2010; Mithöfer and Mazars, 2002; Vincent et al., 2017), or localizations, at the tissue, cellular, or subcellular level. It has also enabled the production of T-DNA insertion mutant lines, which are now available for the majority of Arabidopsis genes and maintained public databases (T-DNA Express, are in large http://signal.salk.edu/cgi-bin/tdnaexpress) stock centers (NASC. and http://arabidopsis.info/; ABRC, https://abrc.osu.edu/). Homologs of many Arabidopsis genes are present in other plant species, highlighting the potential for transfer and application of the information gained from Arabidopsis to more commercially-oriented plant species.

1.2 Perception of environmental stimuli

In order for an organism to properly adapt to suboptimal conditions, it must first become aware of the situation, and then initiate the necessary steps to respond to the stress. Changes in the extracellular environment must therefore be sensed, and that information transmitted into the intracellular environment. Protein kinases are often vital components of signal transduction, and are necessary for the perception of numerous environmental stimuli.

1.2.1 Protein kinases

Protein kinases catalyze the transfer of the γ -phosphate from adenosine-tri-phosphate (ATP) on to a substrate. Serine, threonine, tyrosine, and histidine amino acids are all potential acceptors of this phosphate, and different types of kinases have differential phosphorylation site preferences and capabilities. The specificity of the kinase-phosphorylation site interaction can also depend on the surrounding amino acids. The histidine kinases generally differ in structure and phosphorylation mechanism from the more typical serine/threonine and tyrosine kinases (Wolanin et al., 2002). Protein phosphorylation is a reversible process, with the de-phosphorylation reaction catalyzed by phosphatases. Together, the dynamics of protein phosphorylation and de-phosphorylation provide a rapid and potentially highly regulated means of controlling enzyme activation, protein interactions, and conformational changes. Phosphorylation is one of the most common post-translational modifications found in eukaryotes, and accordingly, kinases are crucial components of a wide range of cellular processes and signalling networks (Kornev et al., 2006).



Figure 1. Actions of kinases and phosphatases on substrate proteins.

1.2.1.1 Kinase domains and activation

The typical kinase core structure consists of a smaller N-terminal lobe and a larger C-terminal lobe, in between which resides the ATP binding site. When the kinase is in an active state this site is exposed, whereas in the inactive conformation it is not accessible (Kornev et al., 2006). The majority of kinases found in eukaryotes contain several conserved protein domains which are important for their activity and regulation (Hanks et al., 1988; Stone and Walker, 1995). The first of these is a conserved lysine (K) in the N-lobe, which is required for ATP binding, as well as structural stabilization (Iyer et al., 2005; Kornev et al., 2006). The aspartic acid – phenylalanine – glycine (DFG) domain is important for orienting the ATP (Kornev et al., 2006). The histidine – arginine – aspartic acid (HRD) domain is required for catalysis and the proper orientation of the acceptor site on the substrate protein (Adams, 2003; Kannan and Neuwald, 2005; Kornev et al., 2006). Mutations disrupting either the conserved K or HRD domains are commonly used to create kinase-dead protein variants, which are incapable of carrying out the phosphorylation reaction (Iyer et al., 2005; Strong et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2015).

1.2.1.2 Kinases in plants

Plant genomes contain a large number of kinases; in Arabidopsis, kinases make up approximately 4% of the total encoded genes (Champion et al., 2004). These can be divided into either membrane-bound kinases, which account for approximately two thirds of the total kinases in Arabidopsis, or soluble kinases, which account for approximately one third of the total kinases in Arabidopsis (Zulawski et al., 2014). Kinases are further classified within these groups based on their function, structure, and phylogeny. The membrane-bound kinases are discussed in detail in the next section. The soluble kinases include such notable groups as the mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK, MAPKK, MAPKKK), the calcium-dependent protein kinases (CDPKs), and the cell cycle regulating cyclin-dependent kinases (CDKs) (Zulawski et al., 2014).

1.2.1.3 Receptor-like kinases

The receptor-like protein kinases (RLKs) are largely responsible for communication between plant cells and the extracellular environment. This protein family is widely represented across plant lineages and highly expanded, comprising approximately 60% of the total kinases (Zulawski et al., 2014). In Arabidopsis, more than 600 different RLKs exist (Shiu and Bleecker, 2003). RLKs are transmembrane proteins typically located at the plasma membrane, with the N-terminal signal perception domain residing in the apoplast and the C-terminal kinase domain extending into the cytoplasm. This orientation permits the sensing of extracellular stimuli and subsequent transmission of the signal into the cell, via the kinase activity or other protein interactions.

The RLKs can be further divided into subgroups based on the composition of their extracellular domain and kinase domain phylogeny (Shiu and Bleecker, 2001). Some well-known examples of RLK subfamilies related to stress responses are: the leucine-rich repeat (LRR) RLKs which typically bind protein or peptide ligands (Couto and Zipfel, 2016), including the MAMP receptors FLAGELLIN-SENSITIVE 2 (FLS2) (Chinchilla et al., 2006; Felix et al., 1999; Gómez-Gómez and Boller, 2000) and EF-TU RECEPTOR (EFR) (Zipfel et al., 2006); the lysin motif (LysM) RLKs which bind carbohydrate-based ligands (Couto and Zipfel, 2016), including LysM-CONTAINING RECEPTOR KINASE 5 (LYK5)(Cao et al., 2014; Wan et al., 2008) and CHITIN ELICITOR RECEPTOR KINASE 1 (CERK1) (Miya et al., 2007); and the lectin RLKs (LecRLKs) which bind carbohydrate ligands (Bellande et al., 2017; Liu et al., 2018). The RLK family also includes the receptor-like cytoplasmic kinases (RLCKs), most notably BOTRITIS-INDUCED KINASE 1 (BIK1) (Couto and Zipfel, 2016), which lack the extracellular and transmembrane domains (Shiu and Bleecker, 2001).

The large numbers of RLKs allows for diverse receptor functions. This diversity, combined with the potential for interaction and signalling crosstalk, suggests RLKs could facilitate responses to a vast range of stimuli. Accordingly, RLKs are known to regulate various aspects of growth, development, and stress responses (Kimura et al., 2017).

1.2.1.4 Cysteine-rich receptor-like kinases

The cysteine-rich receptor-like kinases (CRKs) comprise a subgroup of RLKs, which has 44 members in Arabidopsis (Wrzaczek et al., 2010). CRKs are defined by their extracellular domain, which contains two copies of the domain of unknown function 26 (DUF26) configuration of conserved cysteines C-X8-C-X2-C (Chen, 2001; Vaattovaara et al., 2019). The CRKs can be further classified as belonging to either the basal or variable groups of DUF26-containing proteins (Vaattovaara et al., 2019). The basal group proteins show higher conservation amongst each other, and

representative proteins from all vasculature plants can be found in this group. In contrast, the variable group proteins show a lower degree of conservation and contain many lineage specific expansions (Vaattovaara et al., 2019). Therefore, identification of orthologs and transfer of knowledge between species is more promising with basal group CRKs.



Figure 2. Schematic representation of the general domain structure of CRKs.

Evidence from CRK expression profiles (Lehti-Shiu et al., 2009; Wrzaczek et al., 2010) suggests that the CRKs are likely involved in the signalling responses to both abiotic and biotic stress. Some CRKs have been linked to ROS signalling (Idänheimo et al., 2014) and cell death (Burdiak et al., 2015; Yadeta et al., 2017), and also more broadly to salt stress (Zhang et al., 2013b), immunity (Yeh et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2013a), and ABA signalling (Tanaka et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2013b). However, the functions on a cellular and biochemical level remain largely uncharacterized for the majority of CRKs.

1.3 Cellular responses to stimuli perception

Following the initial perception event of a stimulus, cells may then undergo a number of changes in order to properly respond and adapt to that stimulus. The earliest cellular responses often include small molecule messengers, such as Ca²⁺, ROS, or lipids, which can be induced rapidly and coupled to various downstream signalling events. Since these messengers are common to numerous organisms and responses, the specificity likely arises from the precise timing, duration, amplitude, location, and cellular context, including cell type, priming, or developmental stage (Bickerton et al., 2016; Lodish et al., 2000; McAinsh and Hetherington, 1998; McAinsh and Pittman, 2009; Vaahtera et al., 2014). Further downstream signalling events can include activation of kinases and other enzymes; these may directly lead to physiological changes in the cell, or to transcriptional changes. Many stresses affecting plants induce the same or similar symptoms and responses, despite differences in the initial stimulus, and they may share some of the same signalling components, networks, and cellular responses (Tsuda and Katagiri, 2010).

1.3.1 Ca²⁺ elevation

Calcium signalling is critical for a large number of processes in eukaryotic cells, and has recently been recognized as important also in prokaryotic cells (Domínguez, Buchholz, and Behringer, 2018; Domínguez et al., 2015). The Ca^{2+} ion is a rapidly induced second messenger capable of regulating numerous downstream proteins and signalling events. Ca^{2+} concentrations are tightly controlled in various compartments

of the cell, with changes usually indicating perception of a stimulus or other need for a cellular response (Lecourieux et al., 2006; Maintz et al., 2014; McAinsh and Pittman, 2009). In plants, cytoplasmic concentrations of Ca^{2+} are usually kept low under normal conditions. Increased cytoplasmic Ca^{2+} concentrations are triggered following perception of a stimulus, due to either influx from the apoplast or release from internal stores such as the vacuole or endoplasmic reticulum (McAinsh and Pittman, 2009). Current knowledge indicates that Ca^{2+} increases follow perception of various abiotic and biotic stresses, including salt (Kiegle et al., 2000; Knight et al., 1997; Tracy et al., 2008), drought (Kiegle et al., 2000; Knight et al., 1998, 1997), cold (Allen et al., 2000; Kiegle et al., 2000; Knight et al., 1991), pathogens (Blume et al., 2000; Keinath et al., 2015; Lecourieux et al., 2005; Thor and Peiter, 2014), wounding (Kiep et al., 2015), and herbivory (Kiep et al., 2015; Maffei et al., 2004; Verrillo et al., 2014; Vincent et al., 2017).

1.3.2 ROS production

ROS are another class of molecules which have diverse roles as signalling molecules, and can be produced rapidly in response to stimuli. The term ROS includes singlet oxygen ($^{1}O_{2}$), the superoxide anion (O_{2}^{-}), hydrogen peroxide ($H_{2}O_{2}$), and the hydroxyl radical (HO[•]). ROS signalling is important for several developmental processes, such as cell expansion (Mangano et al., 2016; Schmidt et al., 2016), casparian strip formation (Lee et al., 2013), pollen tube growth (Potocký et al., 2007), and root hair elongation (Foreman et al., 2003). ROS production has also been associated with various abiotic and biotic stress responses, including salt, drought, wounding, and pathogens (Choudhury et al., 2017; Kovtun et al., 2000; Lamb and Dixon, 1997; Noctor et al., 2014; Nxele et al., 2017; Orozco-Cardenas and Ryan, 1999).

ROS are produced in several subcellular compartments, including chloroplasts, mitochondria, peroxisomes, and the apoplast (Waszczak et al., 2018). Intracellular ROS production is largely due to photorespiration and metabolic processes, whereas extracellular ROS is produced in the apoplast through the action of cell wall peroxidases and the RBOH plant plasma membrane NADPH oxidases (Kärkönen and Kuchitsu, 2015; Kimura et al., 2017; Waszczak et al., 2018). Ten RBOHs have been identified in Arabidopsis, with differences in expression, location, and ROS-producing activity (Kaya et al., 2019; Morales et al., 2016). RBOHD and RBOHF in particular are known to be involved in stress responses (Kimura et al., 2017). RBOHs contain several transmembrane regions with regulatory domains in the N-and C- termini, both of which reside in the cytoplasm (Kärkönen and Kuchitsu, 2015). Regulation of RBOH activity can involve both Ca²⁺, through the two EF hand motifs, and phosphorylation (Kaya et al., 2014; Kimura et al., 2012; Ogasawara et al., 2008), as well as G-proteins (Liang et al., 2016), S-nitrosylation (Yun et al., 2011), and phosphatidic acid (Zhang et al., 2009).

As mentioned earlier, RLKs are primarily responsible for sensing extracellular cues in plant cells. A ROS burst has been observed following signal perception for numerous RLKs, indicating that ROS production is likely an important component of the general RLK signalling mechanism (Couto and Zipfel, 2016; Kimura et al., 2017). In addition to upstream regulation, RLKs, and especially the subgroup of RLCKs, could potentially directly regulate RBOHs by phosphorylation (Kimura et al., 2017); this has been shown in the case of the RLCK BIK1, which is known to phosphorylate and activate RBOHD (Kadota et al., 2014).



Figure 3. Involvement of ROS and Ca^{2+} during the perception of environmental stimuli and subsequent signal transmission. Modified from Kimura et al., 2017.

1.3.3 Ca²⁺ and ROS in long distance signalling

In addition to its local role in individual cells, Ca^{2+} is also important for long distance systemic signalling in plants. While a stress may first be perceived by or affect only a small number of cells, in many cases multiple cells or even the whole plant may require an appropriate reaction in order to properly adapt to the stress. Changes in membrane potential, ion concentrations, and ROS levels have been proposed as long-distance signals in plants, in addition to hormones and other small molecules (Choi et al., 2016). It was shown that salt-induced Ca^{2+} increases were elicited not only local to the site of application, but also in more distal parts of the

plant. The spread of Ca^{2+} signal propagated away from the site of stress in a wavelike manner and at a rapid rate, crossing several cells per second (Choi et al., 2014). ROS signalling is closely intertwined with Ca^{2+} signalling, and often a ROS burst and cytoplasmic Ca^{2+} elevation occur concurrently in response to a stimulus. Ca^{2+} is required for RBOH activation, and apoplastic ROS triggers Ca^{2+} influx, in a positive feedback loop relationship (Choi et al., 2016). Ca^{2+} and ROS have also been proposed to work together during long distance systemic signalling, where a symplastic Ca^{2+} signal and apoplastic ROS signal would propagate together from cell-to-cell in a wave-like pattern (Choi et al., 2016, 2014).

1.3.4 Lipid signalling

Lipids form the structural basis of cellular membranes, and can also act as signalling molecules. In the basal state, without stimulation from either environmental or developmental cues, cells generally have low amounts of signalling lipids. Upon stimulation, these molecules are produced from pre-existing membrane lipids, or other intermediates, through the action of phospholipases and esterases (Okazaki and Saito, 2014). Phospholipases can be classified based on the site of cleavage in their phospholipid substrates: phospholipase A₁ and A₂ cleave at the SN-1 or SN-2 acyl chain respectively, producing arachidonic acid; phospholipase B cleaves both acyl chains; phospholipase C cleaves before the head group phosphate, producing diacylglycerol and inositol triphosphate; phospholipase D cleaves after the head group phosphate, producing phosphatidic acid and an alcohol (Munnik and Testerink, 2009).



Figure 4. Hydrolysis of phospholipids by phospholipases. Enzymes and their respective cleavage sites are shown in pink.

The following lipid classes have been identified as signalling lipids in response to stimuli: lysophospholipid, fatty acid, phosphatidic acid, inositol phosphate, diacylglycerol, oxylipin, sphingolipid, and N-acylethanolamine (Kang and Weylandt, 2008; Kilaru et al., 2011; Markham et al., 2013; Munnik and Testerink, 2009; Okazaki and Saito, 2014; Wang et al., 2006). In addition to acting as

signalling molecules themselves, lipids also play a role in stress tolerance by modulating cellular responses through their structural properties. Lipid remodelling occurs during the response to various stresses and is essential for maintaining membrane integrity, as well as contributing to microdomain formation and the function and localization of membrane proteins (Faraudo and Travesset, 2007; Okazaki and Saito, 2014; Zhao et al., 2017). The deposition of wax and cutin at plant surfaces is another example of a stress tolerance mechanism involving lipids (Okazaki and Saito, 2014).

1.3.4.1 Phospholipase D

The phospholipase D (PLD) enzymes hydrolyze phospholipids to produce phosphatidic acid (PA) and a free head group. Plant PLDs can be divided into two subfamilies based on their domain structure: C2-PLDs contain the C2 Ca²⁺-binding domain and require Ca^{2+} for their activity; PX/PH-PLDs contain the phox homology (PX) and plekstrin homology (PH) phosphoinositide-interacting domains, and are Ca^{2+} -independent (Wang, 2005). Arabidopsis contains twelve PLD genes, with PLDα1 being the major isoform (Pappan et al., 1997a, 1997b; Qin and Wang, 2002; Qin et al., 1997; Wang and Wang, 2001)). PLD α (1-3), β (1,2), γ (1-3), δ , and ϵ proteins belong to the C2 subfamily, and PLD $\zeta(1-2)$ proteins belongs to the PX/PH subfamily (Hong et al., 2016; Wang, 2005). In addition to differences in Ca²⁺ requirements, the PLDs also have differential requirements for phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP₂), oleate, and pH (Hong et al., 2016). In contrast to many PLDs, PLDα does not require PIP₂ for activity (Hong et al., 2016; Qin and Wang, 2002). C2-PLDs, including PLD α 1, can use phosphatidylcholine (PC), phosphatidylethanolamine (PE), and phosphatidylglycerol (PG) as substrates, whereas PX/PH-PLDs utilize only PC (Hong et al., 2016).

On a cellular level, PLD and its product PA have been linked to a wide range of cellular processes in eukaryotic cells. These include endocytosis and vesicle trafficking (Koch et al., 2003; Lee et al., 2006; Shen et al., 2001; Thakur et al., 2016), membrane composition and microdomains (Faraudo and Travesset, 2007), and microtubule and cytoskeletal dynamics (Zhang et al., 2017, 2012). PLD plays a role in multiple plant stress responses (Hong et al., 2016; Testerink and Munnik, 2005), including those to salt (Bargmann et al., 2009; Hong et al., 2010; Katagiri et al., 2001), drought (Bargmann et al., 2009; Hong et al., 2010), hyperosmotic (Hong et al., 2008), cold (Li et al., 2004; Wang et al., 2006), wounding (Bargmann et al., 2009; Wang et al., 2013). However, while PLD activity was identified as important for these responses, in many cases the downstream targets and effectors are still unknown.

1.4 Plasmodesmata and intercellular signalling

Signalling between plant cells can occur either via extracellular signals in the apoplast, or through symplastic intercellular connections called plasmodesmata. Plasmodesmata are specialized channels between neighboring cells, where the plasma membrane, cytoplasm, and endoplasmic reticulum extend through from cell-to-cell. The degree to which these channels are open or closed can be dynamically regulated by the addition or removal of callose deposits in the surrounding cell wall (De Storme and Geelen, 2014). Most small soluble molecules, such as water, ions, sugars, and metabolites, are expected to able to cross through plasmodesmata passively (Cheval and Faulkner, 2018; De Storme and Geelen, 2014). Proteins, RNA, and other large molecules can also move between cells through plasmodesmata, however this likely involves some kind of active transport mechanism (Cheval and Faulkner, 2018; Kragler, 2013).

Due to the vast range of molecules potentially able to pass through plasmodesmata, plasmodesmal trafficking must be tightly controlled to ensure proper communication (Tilsner et al., 2016). Plasmodesmata are essential for plant development and growth, and current knowledge indicates that mutants lacking functional plasmodesmata cannot survive (Kobayashi et al., 2007; Stonebloom et al., 2009; Tilsner et al., 2016). Plasmodesmal regulation is also important during abiotic and biotic stress responses (Tilsner et al., 2016).

1.4.1 Callose deposition

Callose deposition provides the major mechanism for controlling plasmodesmal aperture, and therefore the size and type of molecules which can pass through (De Storme and Geelen, 2014; Guseman et al., 2010; Levy et al., 2007a, 2007b; Vatén et al., 2011). When callose is deposited at the neck region of plasmodesmata it causes the inner size and permeability of the channel to decrease (De Storme and Geelen, 2014). Callose (β -1,3-glucan) is a polysaccharide derived from glucose found only in embryophytes, or land plants (De Storme and Geelen, 2014). The deposition of callose at plasmodesmata is a dynamic process which is regulated by callose synthases (CALS), which synthesize callose, and β -1,3-glucanases, which degrade callose (De Storme and Geelen, 2014). The Arabidopsis genome encodes twelve known callose synthases (CALS1-12) and fifty β -1,3-glucanases (Tilsner et al., 2016). There may exist some degree of specificity as to which callose synthases are expressed and/or active in different cells and tissues, or under different stress conditions (Amsbury et al., 2017).

1.4.2 Plasmodesmata and stress

While plasmodesmata are recognized as an important part of various stress responses, the regulation of callose deposition in response to stress stimuli is not

fully understood. However, it is generally thought that cells tend to close their plasmodesmata in response to stress, restricting the flow of molecules and isolating cells (Cui and Lee, 2016; O'Lexy et al., 2018; Tilsner et al., 2016). Changes in plasmodesmal permeability or callose deposition have been observed in response to pathogens (Faulkner et al., 2013; Lee et al., 2011), osmotic stress (Xie et al., 2012), and heavy metal stress (O'Lexy et al., 2018). In some cases, ROS and salicylic acid (SA) have been identified as regulatory components (Cui and Lee, 2016). Plasmodesmata are important for immunity, from both the perspective of the plant and of the pathogen. Upon infection, plants can notify and initiate defense responses in distant cells via this intercellular communication system. On the other hand, viruses can use plasmodesmata to move between cells, as can effector molecules from bacteria or fungi, spreading the infection to new cells (Cheval and Faulkner, 2018; Tilsner et al., 2016). Therefore, the involvement of plasmodesmata during immunity is complicated and may involve both closure and opening of plasmodesmata, depending on the stage of infection and other factors (Cheval and Faulkner, 2018).

It has been proposed that plasmodesmata-localized receptor proteins are involved in the regulation of stimulus-dependent callose deposition (Amsbury et al., 2017; Faulkner, 2013). One example where this has already been described is the salicylic acid (SA)-dependent regulation of CALS1 by PLASMODESMATA-LOCALIZED PROTEIN 5 (PDLP5) (Cui and Lee, 2016). Further characterization of other plasmodesmata-localized proteins is necessary in order to fully understand the regulation of stimulus-dependent callose deposition, and its significance for stress responses and tolerance.

2. AIMS OF THE STUDY

This dissertation explores the significance of the CRK gene family during stress responses in *Arabidopsis thaliana*, with a focus on CRK2. The specific aims were:

- 1) Investigation of the overall roles of the CRK gene family in *Arabidopsis thaliana* by large scale phenotyping of a T-DNA mutant collection.
- 2) Characterization of CRK2 functions during abiotic and biotic stress, including protein interactions, cellular responses, and biochemical activities.
- 3) Characterization of CRK2 subcellular localization in relation to protein function, and potential changes in localization in response to stress stimuli.

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

The materials and methods used in this dissertation are described in detail in publications I, II, and III. A summary of the methods used and the publication(s) in which they appear is provided in Table 1. Methods for the unpublished work included in this dissertation are described below.

Table 1. Methods used in this dissertation. Brackets indicate experiments performed by co-authors in the respective publication.

Method	Publication
Growth conditions	I, II, III
Plant lines and constructs	I, II, III
Genotyping and RT-PCR	I, II
Transient expression in Nicotiana benthamiana	II
Transient transformation of Arabidopsis seedlings	II
Plant size and weight	I, (III)
Water loss	Ι
Immunoprecipitation of protein complexes	II
Mass spectrometry	(II)
Germination assay	II
Root length assay	II
Western blot	II, III
In vitro kinase assay	II, (III)
Subcellular protein localization	II
Callose staining	II, III
DANS assay for plasmodesmata permeability	II
Calcium imaging, cell level	II
Calcium imaging, tissue level	(II), (III)
HEK293T cell culture and transfection	(III)
ROS measurements	(III)
Protein extraction and co-immunoprecipitation	(III)
In vitro phosphorylation site identification	(III)

Vesicle visualization

Seven-day-old seedlings were transferred to 12 well plates for treatments. The conditions for all treatments are described in detail in paper II. Cells were loaded with 5 μ M fluorescein diacetate (Thermo Fisher Scientific) for 15 min in darkness, washed, and mounted in water for immediate imaging. Fluorescent images were obtained with Leica TCS SP5 II HCS confocal microscope using standard GFP settings of 488 nm excitation and a detection range of 500–600 nm. Vesicles were quantified from each image area (150 μ m2) with ImageJ using the Analyze Particles function with the following parameters: binary image, minimum area 2.0 μ m2, circularity 0.20–1.00, exclude on edges. In the NaCl-treated *crk2* samples the number of vesicles exceeded what could be separated visually; therefore these counts

were set to 100 to represent the maximum. Statistical significance was determined by one-way ANOVA with post hoc Tukey HSD using JMP Pro 13. Replicates are as indicated in the figure legends.

FM4-64 staining

Seven-day-old seedlings were transferred to 12 well plates for treatments, either to untreated water or 150 mM NaCl for 30 min. Cells were loaded with 5μ M FM4-64 for 20 min in darkness. Fluorescent images were obtained with Leica TCS SP5 II HCS confocal microscope using standard RFP settings of 561 nm excitation and a detection range of 560–600 nm.

Localization of endocytosis markers

Endocytosis markers were transiently expressed in Arabidopsis seedlings via cocultivation with Agrobacteria, as described in paper II. Plasmids for the endocytosis markers RabF2b–YFP (W2Y) and VTI12–YFP (W13Y) have been previously described (Geldner et al., 2009) and were obtained from the authors. Fluorescent images were obtained with Leica TCS SP5 II HCS confocal microscope using standard YFP settings of 514 nm excitation and a detection range of 525–590 nm.

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 The CRKs are involved in stress responses and development

The CRKs comprise one of the largest groups of RLKs in plants; however, until recently, they remained largely uncharacterized. Previous studies revealed changes in several *CRK* expression profiles in response to ozone, with the majority of the *CRKs* showing increased expression (Wrzaczek et al., 2010). Ozone induces apoplastic ROS production, in a similar manner to the situation triggered by various abiotic and biotic stress stimuli, thereby suggesting that the CRKs may be involved in stress responses and ROS signalling (Wrzaczek et al., 2010).

A collection of loss-of-function T-DNA mutants was obtained for all available CRKs, and large-scale phenotyping of this mutant collection was carried out by several research groups across various areas of expertise to determine the physiological roles of this protein family (I). This suggested physiological roles for the CRKs in development, abiotic stress, biotic stress, and stomatal function (I). On a molecular level, it suggests the CRKs are involved in ROS signalling. CRKs may themselves be either regulated by ROS or involved in the perception of ROS, or they may regulate downstream ROS production in response to stress stimuli (I). Many of the CRKs had different or even contrasting phenotypes, suggesting that individual CRKs may be relevant for specific processes (I). It also highlights a potential role for the CRK family to provide regulatory fine tuning across a wide range of cellular events involved in ROS signalling and stress responses (I).

4.1.1 CRK2 is an evolutionarily conserved CRK with central signalling functions

During the analysis of the CRK mutant collection, CRK2 emerged as a potentially interesting and important CRK for both development and stress responses. The *crk2* mutant has multiple strong phenotypes (I), and was also identified as a member of the basal group of CRKs (I) (Vaattovaara et al., 2019), making it valuable for evolutionary analysis.

One of the most striking phenotypes of the crk2 mutant is its small size and delayed development (I). This dwarf phenotype can be restored by complementation with CRK2–YFP expressed under its native promoter or overexpressed under the 35S promoter (I, III). Expression of kinase-dead CRK2 protein variants cannot complement the dwarf phenotype, indicating that CRK2 kinase activity is important for proper plant development (III). Besides the small size, there are several other aspects of development altered in crk2. These include delayed bolting and flowering, and early senescence (I). The crk2 mutant also has abnormal stomatal density, stomatal length, stomatal aperture ratios, and darkness-induced stomatal closure (I). Additionally, larger changes in fresh weight were observed when compared to Col-0

in water loss assays, indicating a higher degree of water loss in *crk2* (I); this could be restored to wild type by complementation with CRK2–YFP expressed under the 35S promoter (I).

In addition to its roles in plant development, CRK2 is also important for stress tolerance. Loss of CRK2 affects the ability of plants to respond to various abiotic and biotic stimuli. The *crk2* mutant exhibits decreased germination under high salt concentrations, increased susceptibility to ultraviolet light (UV-AB), light stress, and ozone (assessed by electrolyte leakage, as a measure of cell death), decreased flg22-induced ROS production, and decreased chitin-induced stomatal closure (I). Conversely, *crk2* showed increased resistance to the powdery mildew fungal pathogen *Golovinomyces orontii* (I).

CRK2 was identified as a member of the basal group of CRKs, which show a higher degree of conservation across species (I) (Vaattovaara et al., 2019). Therefore, CRK2 likely has more ancestral functions, whereas CRKs belonging to the variable group may be more involved in the specificity and fine-tuning of responses (Vaattovaara et al., 2019). Combined with its strong loss-of-function phenotypes, this further supports the hypothesis that CRK2 is one of the more essential CRKs, and that it could be an important regulator during multiple stress responses and developmental processes.

4.1.1.1 CRK2 is an active kinase

CRK2 contains all of the conserved motifs found in a typical kinase domain (Kornev et al., 2006; Stone and Walker, 1995) and was therefore predicted to be an active kinase. By using an *in vitro* kinase assay we were able to demonstrate that the cytosolic region of CRK2 has kinase activity and is capable of both autophosphorylation and trans-phosphorylation of a generic kinase substrate (II). We also produced two kinase-dead versions of CRK2, harbouring point mutations designed to disrupt the motifs required for kinase activity. The K353E mutation disables the ATP-binding site, and the D450N mutation disables the catalytic core. Neither of the kinase-dead versions of CRK2 exhibited kinase activity *in vitro* (II). Having now established that CRK2 is an active kinase, and that this activity is absent in the kinase-dead versions, these tools were then used in future experiments to assess the requirement of kinase activity for each of CRK2's cellular functions.

4.2 CRK2 enhances salt tolerance

The results of the CRK mutant collection phenotyping indicated that CRK2 is involved in the response to salt stress (I), and we chose this aspect of CRK2 for further investigation. We assessed salt tolerance by percentage of germination on salt-containing media, and confirmed that CRK2 enhances salt tolerance (II). The *crk2* mutant is more salt-sensitive at the germination stage, whereas plants overexpressing CRK2–YFP (35S::CRK2–YFP_9-3, in the Col-0 background) have a higher salt tolerance when compared to Col-0 (II). The germination defect of *crk2* can be restored to wild type by complementation with CRK2–YFP expressed under its native promoter (pCRK2::CRK2–YFP_1-22 and 1-17, in the *crk2* background) (II). Expression of kinase-dead variants of CRK2–YFP (35S::CRK2^{K353E}–YFP and 35S::CRK2^{D450N}–YFP, in the *crk2* background) could not complement the germination defect of *crk2*, indicating that the salt tolerance conferred by CRK2 is dependent on kinase activity (II).

Root length and morphology is another feature which, in addition to germination rate, is commonly studied in the context of salt stress (Bayazid et al., 2016; Julkowska et al., 2014; Kawa et al., 2016). We found that CRK2 has an effect on root length, under both normal and high salt conditions, and that this is dependent on kinase activity (II). Both kinase-dead CRK2–YFP lines had significantly shorter roots compared to Col-0 when transferred to salt-containing media; normal root length was restored by expression of CRK2–YFP under its native promoter or the 35S promoter (II). Thus, CRK2 likely acts on cellular processes involved in multiple aspects of salt tolerance.

4.2.1 CRK2 interacts with other proteins involved in salt tolerance

Having ascertained that CRK2 is involved in conferring salt tolerance, the next step was to characterize its specific functions and protein interactions on a cellular and biochemical level. RLKs frequently carry out their signalling functions as part of protein complexes (Kimura et al., 2017). Therefore, as a starting point for the characterization of CRK2 protein function, we carried out a proteomics screen to identify proteins interacting with CRK2 (II). Several of the top identified interactors have been previously linked to salt stress, including aquaporins (Bhardwaj et al., 2013), ATPases (Janicka-Russak and Kabała, 2015), and PLDa1 (Bargmann et al., 2009) (II). Three callose synthases were also identified (II), raising an interesting question about the involvement of callose and plasmodesmata during salt stress. Callose deposition has not yet been explicitly documented as a response to high salinity, however it is a common feature of several other stress responses, including osmotic stress (Xie et al., 2012), pathogen infection (Cui and Lee, 2016; Felix et al., 1999; Gómez-Gómez and Boller, 2000; Jacobs et al., 2003), wounding (Cui and Lee, 2016), and heavy metal toxicity (O'Lexy et al., 2018), and it is therefore conceivable that it might also be important during salt stress.

4.2.2 CRK2 regulates salt-induced callose deposition and plasmodesmal permeability

We revealed a novel role for callose by demonstrating that callose deposition occurs in response to acute salt stress and is important for salt tolerance (II). This is mediated at least in part by CALS1 (II), which is one of the callose synthases found to interact with CRK2 (II). In further support of this interaction, functional CRK2 is required for the salt-induced callose response (II). The *crk2* and kinase-dead lines do not show increased callose deposition following salt treatment, whereas overexpression of CRK2–YFP results in an amplified callose response to salt, suggesting that CRK2 is a positive regulator of salt-induced callose deposition and highlighting CRK2 kinase activity as an important aspect of this response (II). We also showed that the observed callose deposition correlated with changes in plasmodesmal permeability, and thus has a potential relevance for intercellular communication (II). CRK2 is able to phosphorylate CALS1 *in vitro* and therefore could possibly directly regulate CALS1 by phosphorylation (II). Further investigation of the interaction between CRK2 and CALS1, including the conditions under which is occurs, as well as identification of phosphorylation sites is a promising topic for future work.

CRK2 also had an effect on callose deposition induced by flg22, a MAMP from bacterial flagella, however the effect was opposite to that observed under salt stress (III). Callose deposition in response to pathogens, or elicitors such as flg22, has already been characterized (Cheval and Faulkner, 2018). Here we showed that following flg22 treatment, *crk2* responded with excessive callose deposition (III). By contrast, the overexpression of CRK2–YFP resulted in little to no callose deposition in response to flg22 (unpublished results). These opposing results suggest that CRK2 might interact with different callose synthases during abiotic and biotic stress conditions, and that CRK2's regulation of callose deposition is specific to the type of stimulus.

4.2.3 CRK2 regulates formation of an unknown vesicle type

Increased endocytosis and vesicle trafficking is a well characterized aspect of the cellular response to salt stress (Baral et al., 2015). Several receptors and other membrane proteins are known to internalize following treatment with NaCl, including multiple aquaporins and RBOHD (Hao et al., 2014; Li et al., 2011; Luu et al., 2011; Ueda et al., 2016). Based on the Dyngo-4a results it appears CRK2–YFP itself does not undergo internalization (II), however it could still be involved in regulating this process. Thus we investigated whether CRK2 has an effect on vesicle trafficking during salt stress.

Fluorescein diacetate is a non-fluorescent membrane permeable esterase substrate, which upon entry into cells is converted to the membrane-impermeable fluorescent derivative fluorescein. Using this approach enabled visualization of total dye uptake by the cells, as well as vesicle formation within cells. In untreated seedlings, CRK2–YFP overexpression resulted in a significant decrease in the number of vesicles compared to Col-0, whereas the *crk2* mutant showed an increased number of vesicles (Fig. 5A and B). Overexpression of both kinase-dead variants of CRK2 did not yield a significantly different phenotype from overexpression of the native



Figure 5. CRK2 negatively regulates formation of an unknown vesicle type. (A) CRK2 expression levels are inversely related to the presence of large intracellular vesicles. Visualization of vesicles using fluorescein diacetate. Scale bar = 10 μ m. (B-C) Quantification of number of vesicles in untreated (B) and NaCl treated (C) samples; increased CRK2 results in decreased vesicle formation. Comparisons are made among all lines; different letters indicate significant differences at P < 0.05 (one-way ANOVA, post hoc Tukey HSD). (D-E) Impact of PLD activity on vesicle formation in CRK2 lines; quantification of number of vesicles in untreated (D) and NaCl-treated (E) samples, when pre-treated with 1-butanol. Comparisons are between untreated and 1-butanol-treated samples for each line; ns not significant, * P < 0.05, ** P < 0.01, *** P < 0.001 (one-way ANOVA, post hoc Tukey HSD). Seven-day-old seedlings; n = at least 18.

protein (Fig. 5A and B). In NaCl-treated seedlings, the same overall pattern was observed as in the untreated seedlings, with CRK2 overexpression yielding significantly less vesicles than Col-0, and *crk2* having significantly more vesicles

(Fig. 5A and C). The amplitude of the differences between lines was more obvious after salt treatment and now all five lines significantly differed from each other. However, the kinase-dead lines still resembled more closely the native CRK2 overexpression line rather than Col-0 or *crk2* (Fig. 5A and C). These observations suggest that CRK2 is a negative regulator of vesicle formation under both basal and salt stress conditions, and that kinase activity is not required for this function. Thus, we speculate that CRK2 has a phosphorylation-independent function in the vesicle formation machinery, possibly related to scaffolding or protein sequestration.

The vesicles were initially considered to be products of endocytosis. However, FM4-64 staining (Fig. 6A) and co-localization with endocytosis markers (Fig. 6B) showed that this was not the case, and no differences were observed between Col-0 and *crk2* in either of these experiments. It is also possible that some of the structures observed may be plastids. However, Dyngo-4a treatment decreased and nearly eliminated the vesicles in all three lines, indicating these vesicles are likely still mediated by a clathrin-dependent process (Fig. 6C). There was also no significant difference between the Dyngo-4a-treated lines and the untreated CRK2 overexpression line (Fig 6C), further supporting a role for CRK2 as a negative regulator of vesicle formation.



Figure 6. The unknown vesicles are not derived from endocytosis, but are clathrin-dependent. (A) Visualization of the plasma membrane and endocytotic vesicles with FM4-64. (B) Expression of endocytosis markers does not show the presence of the large vesicles observed in Figure 5. (A-B) Seven-day-old seedlings; n = at least 3. Scale bar = 10 µm. (C) Dyngo-4a strongly reduces the number

of vesicles. Quantification of number of vesicles; comparisons are between untreated and Dyngo-4atreated samples for each line; ns not significant, * P < 0.05, ** P < 0.01, *** P < 0.001 (one-way ANOVA, post hoc Tukey HSD). Seven-day-old seedlings; n = at least 18.

We also investigated if PLD was required for vesicle formation, since PLD is a known regulator of clathrin-mediated endocytosis and vesicle trafficking in eukarvotes (Koch et al., 2003; Lee et al., 2006; Shen et al., 2001; Thakur et al., 2016). We assessed the involvement of PLD in relation to CRK2 using 1-butanol to inhibit PA production. We first confirmed that 1-butanol inhibition is an appropriate alternative to eliminating PLD protein, by demonstrating that Col-0 treated with 1butanol shows the same phenotype as the $pld\alpha l$ mutant, under both basal conditions and following NaCl treatment (Fig. 5D and E). Inhibition of PLD greatly reduced the number of vesicles observed under both basal (Fig. 5D) and NaCl-treated (Fig. 5E) conditions in all lines, reinforcing that PLD is a positive regulator of vesicle formation. There was no significant difference between the 1-butanol-treated lines and the untreated CRK2 overexpression line (Fig. 5D and E), which suggests that PLD and CRK2 have opposite effects on the regulation of vesicle formation. However, loss of CRK2 cannot compensate for inhibition of PLD activity. This would suggest that either CRK2 is upstream of PLD in this pathway, or that they are acting in parallel. In both scenarios, the requirement for PLD activity appears to overrule the effects of CRK2.

CRK2 appears to be important for the regulation of vesicle formation not only during salt stress, but also under standard growth conditions. Accordingly, the dependency of this phenotype on PLD was also observed under both standard and salt conditions. Thus, we propose CRK2 is a constitutive negative regulator of formation of this vesicle type. While this regulation is also important for salt tolerance, it may not be linked directly with the other CRK2 functions and salt-induced localization changes.

4.3 CRK2 regulates RBOHD and ROS production

The phenotyping of CRK2 suggested that this protein is involved in ROS signalling (I). The results further indicated that CRK2 has an effect on ROS production in response to biotic stress, as the *crk2* mutant shows reduced flg22-induced ROS production (I, III). This was further investigated in paper III, which focuses on the interaction of CRK2 and RBOHD. RBOHD is the most notable RBOH with regards to stress-induced apoplastic ROS production (Couto and Zipfel, 2016; Kimura et al., 2017) and is known to be regulated by both phosphorylation and Ca²⁺ binding (Kadota et al., 2014; Kaya et al., 2019; Kimura et al., 2012; Ogasawara et al., 2008).

Co-immunoprecipitation assays demonstrated that CRK2 and RBOHD associate with each other *in planta*, under both untreated and flg22-treated conditions, and that they can directly interact with each other *in vitro* (III). We used the human embryonic kidney cell line HEK293T as an *in vitro* cellular system in which to measure ROS production. HEK293T cells have low endogenous extracellular ROS

production (Ogasawara et al., 2008), and are therefore uniquely suited for this purpose. Expression of RBOHD + CRK2 in HEK293T cells yielded elevated basal ROS production compared to the control RBOHD + GFP cells (III). The kinase-dead variants of CRK2 did not enhance ROS production when expressed with RBOHD, indicating that this effect is kinase-dependent (III). We also demonstrated that the effect of CRK2 on basal ROS production is independent of Ca^{2+} (III).

Since the kinase activity of CRK2 was important for its effect on ROS production, we tested the potential for direct phosphorylation. CRK2 was able to phosphorylate both the N- and C- termini of RBOHD in vitro (III). This is an intriguing result, given that previous research has focused predominantly on phosphorylation of the Nterminus for regulation of RBOHs. Regulation via the C-terminus has, however, been reported in human NADPH oxidases (Jagnandan et al., 2007; Raad et al., 2009), and therefore could also be important in plants. Two of the identified phosphorylation sites in the C-terminal region, S703 and S862, had an effect on ROS production in HEK293T cells (III). RBOHD protein containing a mutated version of S703 which is unable to be phosphorylated had lower basal ROS production in HEK293T cells, and phosphorylation of this site in planta was increased upon treatment with flg22, suggesting S703 as a positive regulatory site (III). Mutation of the S862 site on the other hand resulted in higher basal ROS production in HEK293T cells, suggesting it is a negative regulatory site (III). CRK2 may therefore regulate RBOHD differentially through multiple phosphorylation sites, to provide fine tuning of ROS production in response to various environmental stimuli.

4.4 CRK2 exhibits stress-specific patterns of subcellular localization

One means by which protein function can be regulated post-translationally is by modulation of subcellular localization within specific cellular compartments or domains. Several RLKs localize to specific plasma membrane microdomains, including FLS2 and BRI1 (Bücherl et al., 2017). We found that the subcellular localization of CRK2 is dependent upon environmental conditions, and observed highly specific localization patterns in response to both abiotic and biotic stimuli (II). CRK2 localizes evenly along the plasma membrane in epidermal pavement cells under normal growth conditions (II, III). Following osmotic or salt stress, CRK2 relocalization was confirmed to be at plasmodesmata, as assessed by co-localization of the CRK2 spots with the plasmodesmata marker protein PDLP5 (II). A different pattern of smaller, more frequent spots was observed following treatment with flg22, to mimic biotic stress, or H_2O_2 , to raise the extracellular ROS concentration (II). These spots do not resemble plasmodesmata and instead likely represent some form of microdomain.

The kinase-dead CRK2 protein variants localize to the plasma membrane similarly to wild type CRK2 under control conditions, indicating that kinase activity is not

required for stable protein expression or localization to the plasma membrane (II). However, the stress-induced localization patterns of CRK2 require an active kinase domain (II). Using an inhibitor-based approach, we determined that the relocalization of CRK2 is also dependent on elevated cytosolic Ca²⁺, enhanced by extracellular ROS production, and does not require clathrin-mediated endocytosis (II). While Ca²⁺ was required in all cases, and likely serves as the primary signal, extracellular ROS production was also required for re-localization upon flg22 treatment (II). Thus, in addition to the differences in localization patterns induced by abiotic and biotic stress, there appears to also be some differences in the mechanism. We therefore propose that CRK2 adopts stimulus-specific localization patterns, which influence its protein interactions and cellular functions during stress responses.

4.5 The subcellular localization and cellular functions of CRK2 are dependent on PLDa1 activity

PLDa1 was consistently identified as one of the top proteins interacting with CRK2 (II), and several of the cellular functions in which CRK2 was found to play a role have also been linked to PLDa1. The regulation of salt-induced callose deposition and vesicle formation by CRK2 requires PLD activity (II; Figure 4D and E), and the *crk2* and *plda1* mutants have similar phenotypes with regards to salt tolerance (II). In addition, the stress-induced re-localization of CRK2 is dependent on PLD activity (II).

Microdomains with specific plasma membrane properties offer a means of localizing proteins to a specific area or grouping proteins together, for example during formation of a signalling complex. Plasmodesmata contain specialized microdomains, which are necessary for the proper localization of several plasmodesmata-localized proteins (Grison et al., 2019; Nicolas et al., 2018). PLD can alter membrane properties and create microdomains through the formation of PA-rich areas. PA can affect membrane properties in several ways: it is negatively charged, has an increased binding capacity for divalent cations (Faraudo and Travesset, 2007), can directly act as a localization signal for PA binding proteins (Delon et al., 2004), and can induce membrane curvature (Kooijman et al., 2003), which is important for membrane budding and vesicle formation as well as protein localization (Zhao et al., 2017). PLD can also influence microtubules and cytoskeletal structure in response to stress (Jiang et al., 2014; Zhang et al., 2012). This could also be important for plasmodesmal permeability, plasmodesmal transport specificity, and distribution of molecules to plasmodesmata (White and Barton, 2011).

Therefore, PLDa1 could provide a mechanism for bringing together various components, such as CRK2 and CALS1, and for directing the stress-induced relocalization patterns of CRK2. The placement of PLDa1 upstream of CRK2 is

further supported by the observation that NaCl-induced callose deposition – and the effect of CRK2 on this process – is dependent on PLD activity, but basal callose deposition is not (II). We propose a model in which increased salinity triggers Ca^{2+} influx, and ROS production, as early initial responses. The resulting increase in cytosolic Ca^{2+} activates PLDa1 and prompts its translocation to the plasma membrane, where PA production alters the membrane composition (Fig. 7). This shift in membrane properties serves as a scaffold for the re-localization of CRK2 from uniformly along the plasma membrane to concentrated domains at plasmodesmata. There, CRK2 interacts with CALS1 to promote callose deposition and decrease plasmodesmal permeability, which ultimately leads to enhanced salt tolerance (Fig. 7). The roles of CRK2 for vesicle formation and ROS production during immune responses likely follow separate signalling cascades, which may also involve PLDa1-dependent subcellular localization patterns.



Figure 7. Schematic of proposed pathway for CRK2 regulation of callose deposition at plasmodesmata during salt stress. (A) Resting state. (B) Early responses to salt stress. Increased extracellular NaCl triggers Ca^{2+} influx, as well as ROS production by RBOHD. Cytoplasmic Ca^{2+} elevation activates PLDa1 leading to PA production and a shift in membrane properties; this serves as a scaffold for changes in CRK2 localization from uniformly along the plasma membrane to specific domains concentrated at plasmodesmata. Once localized at plasmodesmata, CRK2 interacts with CALS1 to promote callose deposition, ultimately leading to enhanced salt tolerance. Modified from Hunter et al., 2019.

5. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

The innate ability of plants to respond and adapt to their environment is a prerequisite for survival, due their inability to re-locate in the face of adverse conditions. Climate change, allocation of land for urbanization and industrialized purposes, and even some agricultural practices themselves have contributed to the current situation where plants are increasingly exposed to more variable and unpredictable environmental conditions. The deleterious effects of abiotic and biotic stress on plant health, growth, and productivity can disturb the balance of natural ecosystems, as well as threaten food security and economic interests in agriculture, forestry, and other commercial plants. It is therefore desirable to produce plants which would be more sustainable and tolerant to such stresses, either through traditional breeding or genetic engineering. Any attempts at increasing stress tolerance, however, must first be preceded by a more thorough understanding of the molecular mechanisms and cellular pathways underlying the sensing of and responses to environmental stimuli.

The RLKs are central to the communication between plant cells and the extracellular environment, and as such are often fundamental components of stress response signalling networks. However, despite this, the functions and protein interactions of many RLKs remain largely uncharacterized on a biochemical and cellular level. This dissertation explores the significance of the CRK subfamily of RLKs during stress responses, with a focus on CRK2.

Publication (I) demonstrates that the CRK gene family is involved in several processes during development as well as abiotic and biotic stress responses. Some of the CRKs appear to have roles in multiple processes and could have central signalling functions, whereas others may be more involved in the fine tuning of responses. CRK2 in particular exhibits several strong loss-of-function phenotypes, and is therefore proposed as a fundamental member of the CRK gene family.

Publication (II) establishes that CRK2 enhances salt tolerance through the regulation of callose deposition by CALS1, in connection with PLDa1. This publication also demonstrates the highly specific stress-induced subcellular localization patterns of CRK2. These unique localization patterns are essential for CRK2 protein functions and interactions, as exemplified in the case of salt stress: upon exposure to high salinity, CRK2 re-localizes to plasmodesmata, where it interacts with CALS1 to regulate callose deposition and plasmodesmal permeability. Also presented are unpublished results detailing the involvement of CRK2 as a negative regulator of the formation of an unknown vesicle type during salt stress. Together, this work identifies a novel role for callose deposition in response to salt stress, and demonstrates its importance for salt tolerance. It supports the view that regulation of plasmodesmal permeability and symplastic signalling is important not only during biotic stress, but also in response to abiotic stress. The unknown vesicles could also play a role in intercellular communication, as plasmodesmata are known to be hubs for vesicle trafficking and transport of molecules between cells. It will be interesting in the future to fully characterize the nature of these vesicles and their association with salt stress. Another important area for further research is to expand on the CRK2 and CALS1 interaction by identifying target phosphosites, and other potential proteins involved in the regulation. CRK2 was also found to interact with two other callose synthases; whether these are also involved in salt stress remains to be seen. Additionally, there is still a lack of complete understanding of the functional purpose behind salt-induced callose deposition and exactly how this response leads to improved salt tolerance.

Publication (III) focuses on the action of CRK2 during biotic stress, and shows that CRK2 can interact with and phosphorylate RBOHD, contributing to the regulation of stress-induced ROS production. While other kinases have been shown to regulate RBOHD via phosphorylation of the N-terminus, CRK2 is unique in that it phosphorylated several sites on the C-terminus. Phylogenetic analysis indicated that the identified C-terminal phosphosites are conserved across both plant and animal species. This opens new possibilities for investigation of the regulation of stress-induced ROS production in plants through C-terminal phosphorylation of RBOHs.

As a whole, the results presented in this dissertation suggest that CRK2 is a highly important CRK, with multiple cellular functions essential to stress response signalling. The placement of CRK2 within the basal group of CRKs suggests more ancestral functions (Vaattovaara et al., 2019), and highlights the potential for the transfer and application of information gained from model organisms to other species. CRK2 is therefore a promising candidate for further research into understanding stress response mechanisms in plants, and a potential target for improving tolerance to both abiotic and biotic stresses.

6. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was carried out at the University of Helsinki, Faculty of Biological and Environmental Sciences. The Academy of Finland, Viikki Plant Science Center, the Doctoral Program in Plant Sciences (DPPS), and the Center of Excellence in Molecular Biology of Primary Producers are all gratefully acknowledged for providing funding, infrastructure, and resources.

First and foremost, thank you to my supervisor Michael (Michi) Wrzaczek. Words are definitely not enough here to truly express my gratitude. Thank you for taking a chance on me and inviting me into your research group. You have taught me so much, and I appreciate you always being there for support, discussions, and guidance, both in science and in life. Thank you for challenging me to think for myself and become a more independent researcher, and for pushing me to always strive for better. I'm truly grateful to have had you as a supervisor.

Thank you to Jaakko Kangasjärvi for leading the Plant Stress Metagroup, for your insightful comments during lab meetings, and for acting as custos for my defence. Thank you to the other group leaders Kirk Overmyer, Mikael Brosché, and Jarkko Salojärvi for many excellent discussions and suggestions during lab meetings and throughout this project. Thank you to Jyrki Kukkonen for everything you taught me as a Masters student and for your continued collaboration throughout my PhD.

Thank you to all of my co-authors and collaborators for your contributions to this project. Thank you to my thesis committee members Kristiina Himanen and Markku Varjosalo and my faculty contact Johannes Enroth. Thank you to doctoral program coordinator Karen Sims-Huopaniemi for all of the work you do with practical matters, organizing meetings and seminars, and keeping us all on track.

Thank you to all members of the RecSig group. We make a great team! Sachie: you are an excellent scientist, friend, and officemate, and I'm so glad we got to work together. Thank you for all of the collaboration and for being a great role model. Aleksia: we were once referred to as Michi's "scientific children", so thanks for being the "older sister" and providing a good example, setting the bar high. Thank you also to Derek, Huiting, and all the students we had over the years.

Thank you to Tuomas, Airi, Markku, and Leena for ensuring everything ran smoothly in the lab, offices, and greenhouse. Extra thanks to Tuomas for all your help with experiments, troubleshooting protocols, and seemingly endless knowledge of all things lab related, as well as for the Finnish translation of my abstract. Thank you to Alexey and Julia-KW for your many suggestions and reading my manuscripts. Thank you to Julia-V, Adrien, and Riccardo for teaching me a lot at the beginning. Thank you to Kata, Kai, Sanna, Sitaram, Omid, Cezary, Melanie, Luis,

Johanna, Maija, Triin, Jorma, Timo, Lauri, Enjun, Fuqiang, Richard, all past and present members of the Plant Stress Metagroup, Iris (my other excellent officemate), Hanna, Friederike (since day one as Masters students), everyone already listed above, anyone I forgot, and all members of the Plant Biology division for a great working environment.

To the countless bands, the Trash family, the old Bäkkäri regulars, Coraline (my partner in crime), the entire Helsinki rock scene, and everyone I met along the way: thank you for the music, the friendships, and the memories (and the guaranteed escape from science).

Finally, thank you to all my friends and family back in Canada. Mom and Dad: thank you for always being supportive of following my own path, even when it took me halfway across the world. Remember when I swore I'd never do a PhD? Guess I proved myself wrong on that.

I truly enjoyed my time here at the University of Helsinki and appreciate every moment of this experience. Kiitos paljon!

7. REFERENCES

- Adams, J.A., 2003. Activation Loop Phosphorylation and Catalysis in Protein Kinases: Is There Functional Evidence for the Autoinhibitor Model? Biochemistry 42, 601–607. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi0206170
- Allen, G.J., Chu, S.P., Schumacher, K., Shimazaki, C.T., Vafeados, D., Kemper, A., Hawke, S.D., Tallman, G., Tsien, R.Y., Harper, J.F., Chory, J., Schroeder, J.I., 2000. Alteration of Stimulus-Specific Guard Cell Calcium Oscillations and Stomatal Closing in *Arabidopsis det3* Mutant. Science 289, 2338. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.289.5488.2338
- Allen, G.J., Kwak, J.M., Chu, S.P., Llopis, J., Tsien, R.Y., Harper, J.F., Schroeder, J.I., 1999. Cameleon calcium indicator reports cytoplasmic calcium dynamics in Arabidopsis guard cells. Plant J. 19, 735–747. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-313x.1999.00574.x
- Amsbury, S., Kirk, P., Benitez-Alfonso, Y., 2017. Emerging models on the regulation of intercellular transport by plasmodesmata-associated callose. J. Exp. Bot. 69, 105–115. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erx337
- Atkinson, N.J., Urwin, P.E., 2012. The interaction of plant biotic and abiotic stresses: from genes to the field. J. Exp. Bot. 63, 3523–3543. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/ers100
- Baral, A., Irani, N.G., Fujimoto, M., Nakano, A., Mayor, S., Mathew, M.K., 2015. Salt-Induced Remodeling of Spatially Restricted Clathrin-Independent Endocytic Pathways in Arabidopsis Root. Plant Cell 27, 1297. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.15.00154
- Bargmann, B.O.R., Laxalt, A.M., Riet, B.T., Testerink, C., Merquiol, E., Mosblech, A., Leon-Reyes, A., Pieterse, C.M.J., Haring, M.A., Heilmann, I., Bartels, D., Munnik, T., 2009. Reassessing the role of phospholipase D in the Arabidopsis wounding response. Plant Cell Environ. 32, 837–850. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3040.2009.01962.x
- Bargmann, B.O.R., Laxalt, A.M., Riet, B. ter, van Schooten, B., Merquiol, E., Testerink, C., Haring, M.A., Bartels, D., Munnik, T., 2009. Multiple PLDs Required for High Salinity and Water Deficit Tolerance in Plants. Plant Cell Physiol. 50, 78–89. https://doi.org/10.1093/pcp/pcn173
- Bar-On, Y.M., Phillips, R., Milo, R., 2018. The biomass distribution on Earth. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 115, 6506. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1711842115
- Bayazid, K.N., Uddin, M.J., Robin, A.H.K., Matthew, C., 2016. Salinity-induced reduction in root surface area and changes in major root and shoot traits at the phytomer level in wheat. J. Exp. Bot. 67, 3719–3729. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erw064
- Bellande, K., Bono, J.-J., Savelli, B., Jamet, E., Canut, H., 2017. Plant Lectins and Lectin Receptor-Like Kinases: How Do They Sense the Outside? Int. J. Mol. Sci. 18, 1164. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms18061164
- Bhardwaj, R., Sharma, I., Kanwar, M., Sharma, R., Handa, N., Kaur, H., Kapoor, D., Poonam, 2013. Aquaporins: Role Under Salt Stress in Plants, in: Ahmad, P., Azooz, M.M., Prasad, M.N.V. (Eds.), Ecophysiology and Responses of Plants under Salt Stress. Springer New York, New York, NY, pp. 213–248. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-4747-4_8
- Bickerton, P., Sello, S., Brownlee, C., Pittman, J.K., Wheeler, G.L., 2016. Spatial and temporal specificity of Ca(2+) signalling in Chlamydomonas reinhardtii

in response to osmotic stress. New Phytol. 212, 920–933. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.14128

- Blume, B., Nürnberger, T., Nass, N., Scheel, D., 2000. Receptor-mediated increase in cytoplasmic free calcium required for activation of pathogen defense in parsley. Plant Cell 12, 1425–1440. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.12.8.1425
- Boller, T., Felix, G., 2009. A Renaissance of Elicitors: Perception of Microbe-Associated Molecular Patterns and Danger Signals by Pattern-Recognition Receptors. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 60, 379–406. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.arplant.57.032905.105346
- Boller, T., He, S.Y., 2009. Innate immunity in plants: an arms race between pattern recognition receptors in plants and effectors in microbial pathogens. Science 324, 742–744. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1171647
- Bücherl, C.A., Jarsch, I.K., Schudoma, C., Segonzac, C., Mbengue, M., Robatzek, S., MacLean, D., Ott, T., Zipfel, C., 2017. Plant immune and growth receptors share common signalling components but localise to distinct plasma membrane nanodomains. eLife 6, e25114. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.25114
- Burdiak, P., Rusaczonek, A., Witoń, D., Głów, D., Karpiński, S., 2015. Cysteine-rich receptor-like kinase CRK5 as a regulator of growth, development, and ultraviolet radiation responses in Arabidopsis thaliana. J. Exp. Bot. 66, 3325– 3337. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erv143
- Cao, Y., Liang, Y., Tanaka, K., Nguyen, C.T., Jedrzejczak, R.P., Joachimiak, A., Stacey, G., 2014. The kinase LYK5 is a major chitin receptor in Arabidopsis and forms a chitin-induced complex with related kinase CERK1. eLife 3, e03766. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.03766
- Champion, A., Kreis, M., Mockaitis, K., Picaud, A., Henry, Y., 2004. Arabidopsis kinome: after the casting. Funct. Integr. Genomics 4, 163–187. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10142-003-0096-4
- Chen, Z., 2001. A Superfamily of Proteins with Novel Cysteine-Rich Repeats. Plant Physiol. 126, 473. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.126.2.473
- Cheval, C., Faulkner, C., 2018. Plasmodesmal regulation during plant–pathogen interactions. New Phytol. 217, 62–67. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.14857
- Chinchilla, D., Bauer, Z., Regenass, M., Boller, T., Felix, G., 2006. The *Arabidopsis* Receptor Kinase FLS2 Binds flg22 and Determines the Specificity of Flagellin Perception. Plant Cell 18, 465. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.105.036574
- Choi, W.-G., Hilleary, R., Swanson, S.J., Kim, S.-H., Gilroy, S., 2016. Rapid, Long-Distance Electrical and Calcium Signaling in Plants. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 67, 287–307. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-arplant-043015-112130
- Choi, W.-G., Toyota, M., Kim, S.-H., Hilleary, R., Gilroy, S., 2014. Salt stressinduced Ca²⁺ waves are associated with rapid, long-distance root-to-shoot signaling in plants. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 111, 6497. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1319955111
- Choudhury, F.K., Rivero, R.M., Blumwald, E., Mittler, R., 2017. Reactive oxygen species, abiotic stress and stress combination. Plant J. 90, 856–867. https://doi.org/10.1111/tpj.13299
- Couto, D., Zipfel, C., 2016. Regulation of pattern recognition receptor signalling in plants. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 16, 537.

- Cui, W., Lee, J.-Y., 2016. Arabidopsis callose synthases CalS1/8 regulate plasmodesmal permeability during stress. Nat. Plants 2, 16034.
- de Souza, E.M., Granada, C.E., Sperotto, R.A., 2016. Plant Pathogens Affecting the Establishment of Plant-Symbiont Interaction. Front. Plant Sci. 7, 15–15. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2016.00015
- De Storme, N., Geelen, D., 2014. Callose homeostasis at plasmodesmata: molecular regulators and developmental relevance. Front. Plant Sci. 5, 138. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2014.00138
- Delfina C. Domínguez ED1 John N. Buchholz ED2 Erik J. Behringer, 2018. Calcium Signaling in Prokaryotes, in: Calcium and Signal Transduction. IntechOpen, Rijeka, p. Ch. 5. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.78546
- Delon, C., Manifava, M., Wood, E., Thompson, D., Krugmann, S., Pyne, S., Ktistakis, N.T., 2004. Sphingosine Kinase 1 Is an Intracellular Effector of Phosphatidic Acid. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 44763–44774. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M405771200
- Domínguez, D.C., Guragain, M., Patrauchan, M., 2015. Calcium binding proteins and calcium signaling in prokaryotes. Evol. Calcium Signal. 57, 151–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceca.2014.12.006
- Elkahoui, S., Smaoui, A., Zarrouk, M., Ghrir, R., Limam, F., 2004. Salt-induced lipid changes in Catharanthus roseus cultured cell suspensions. Phytochemistry 65, 1911–1917. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phytochem.2004.06.021
- FAO and ITPS, 2015. Status of the World's Soil Resources (SWSR) Main Report. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations and Intergovernmental Technical Panel on Soils, Rome, Italy.
- Faraudo, J., Travesset, A., 2007. Phosphatidic Acid Domains in Membranes: Effect of Divalent Counterions. Biophys. J. 92, 2806–2818. https://doi.org/10.1529/biophysj.106.092015
- Faulkner, C., 2013. Receptor-mediated signaling at plasmodesmata. Front. Plant Sci. 4, 521. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2013.00521
- Faulkner, C., Petutschnig, E., Benitez-Alfonso, Y., Beck, M., Robatzek, S., Lipka, V., Maule, A.J., 2013. LYM2-dependent chitin perception limits molecular flux via plasmodesmata. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 110, 9166. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1203458110
- Fedoroff, N.V., Battisti, D.S., Beachy, R.N., Cooper, P.J.M., Fischhoff, D.A., Hodges, C.N., Knauf, V.C., Lobell, D., Mazur, B.J., Molden, D., Reynolds, M.P., Ronald, P.C., Rosegrant, M.W., Sanchez, P.A., Vonshak, A., Zhu, J.-K., 2010. Radically rethinking agriculture for the 21st century. Science 327, 833–834. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1186834
- Felix, G., Duran, J.D., Volko, S., Boller, T., 1999. Plants have a sensitive perception system for the most conserved domain of bacterial flagellin. Plant J. 18, 265– 276. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-313X.1999.00265.x
- Foreman, J., Demidchik, V., Bothwell, J.H.F., Mylona, P., Miedema, H., Torres, M.A., Linstead, P., Costa, S., Brownlee, C., Jones, J.D.G., Davies, J.M., Dolan, L., 2003. Reactive oxygen species produced by NADPH oxidase regulate plant cell growth. Nature 422, 442–446. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature01485
- Geldner, N., Dénervaud-Tendon, V., Hyman, D.L., Mayer, U., Stierhof, Y.-D., Chory, J., 2009. Rapid, combinatorial analysis of membrane compartments in

intact plants with a multicolor marker set. Plant J. 59, 169–178. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-313X.2009.03851.x

- Gómez-Gómez, L., Boller, T., 2000. FLS2: An LRR Receptor–like Kinase Involved in the Perception of the Bacterial Elicitor Flagellin in *Arabidopsis*. Mol. Cell 5, 1003–1011. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1097-2765(00)80265-8
- Grison, M., Kirk, P., Brault, M., Wu, X.N., Schulze, W.X., Benitez-Alfonso, Y., Immel, F., Bayer, E.M.F., 2019. Plasma membrane-associated receptor like kinases relocalize to plasmodesmata in response to osmotic stress. Plant Physiol. pp.00473.2019. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.19.00473
- Guseman, J.M., Lee, J.S., Bogenschutz, N.L., Peterson, K.M., Virata, R.E., Xie, B., Kanaoka, M.M., Hong, Z., Torii, K.U., 2010. Dysregulation of cell-to-cell connectivity and stomatal patterning by loss-of-function mutation in *Arabidopsis* CHORUS (GLUCAN SYNTHASE-LIKE 8). Development 137, 1731. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.049197
- Hanks, S., Quinn, A., Hunter, T., 1988. The protein kinase family: conserved features and deduced phylogeny of the catalytic domains. Science 241, 42. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.3291115
- Hao, H., Fan, L., Chen, T., Li, R., Li, X., He, Q., Botella, M.A., Lin, J., 2014.
 Clathrin and Membrane Microdomains Cooperatively Regulate RbohD
 Dynamics and Activity in *Arabidopsis*. Plant Cell 26, 1729.
 https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.113.122358
- Hong, Y., Pan, X., Welti, R., Wang, X., 2008. Phospholipase Dα3 Is Involved in the Hyperosmotic Response in *Arabidopsis*. Plant Cell 20, 803. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.107.056390
- Hong, Y., Zhang, W., Wang, X., 2010. Phospholipase D and phosphatidic acid signalling in plant response to drought and salinity. Plant Cell Environ. 33, 627–635. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3040.2009.02087.x
- Hong, Y., Zhao, J., Guo, L., Kim, S.-C., Deng, X., Wang, G., Zhang, G., Li, M., Wang, X., 2016. Plant phospholipases D and C and their diverse functions in stress responses. Prog. Lipid Res. 62, 55–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plipres.2016.01.002
- Horikawa, K., Yamada, Y., Matsuda, T., Kobayashi, K., Hashimoto, M., Matsu-ura, T., Miyawaki, A., Michikawa, T., Mikoshiba, K., Nagai, T., 2010.
 Spontaneous network activity visualized by ultrasensitive Ca2+ indicators, yellow Cameleon-Nano. Nat. Methods 7, 729.
- Idänheimo, N., Gauthier, A., Salojärvi, J., Siligato, R., Brosché, M., Kollist, H., Mähönen, A.P., Kangasjärvi, J., Wrzaczek, M., 2014. The Arabidopsis thaliana cysteine-rich receptor-like kinases CRK6 and CRK7 protect against apoplastic oxidative stress. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 445, 457–462. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2014.02.013
- Iyer, G.H., Garrod, S., Woods, V.L., Taylor, S.S., 2005. Catalytic Independent Functions of a Protein Kinase as Revealed by a Kinase-dead Mutant: Study of the Lys72His Mutant of cAMP-dependent Kinase. J. Mol. Biol. 351, 1110–1122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2005.06.011
- Jacobs, A.K., Lipka, V., Burton, R.A., Panstruga, R., Strizhov, N., Schulze-Lefert, P., Fincher, G.B., 2003. An Arabidopsis Callose Synthase, GSL5, Is Required for Wound and Papillary Callose Formation. Plant Cell 15, 2503. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.016097

- Jagnandan, D., Church, J.E., Banfi, B., Stuehr, D.J., Marrero, M.B., Fulton, D.J.R., 2007. Novel Mechanism of Activation of NADPH Oxidase 5: CALCIUM SENSITIZATION VIA PHOSPHORYLATION. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 6494– 6507. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M608966200
- Janicka-Russak, M., Kabała, K., 2015. The Role of Plasma Membrane H+-ATPase in Salinity Stress of Plants, in: Lüttge, U., Beyschlag, W. (Eds.), Progress in Botany: Vol. 76. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 77–92. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-08807-5_3
- Jiang, Y., Wu, K., Lin, F., Qu, Y., Liu, X., Zhang, Q., 2014. Phosphatidic acid integrates calcium signaling and microtubule dynamics into regulating ABAinduced stomatal closure in Arabidopsis. Planta 239, 565–575. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00425-013-1999-5
- Jones, J.D.G., Dangl, J.L., 2006. The plant immune system. Nature 444, 323–329. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05286
- Julkowska, M.M., Hoefsloot, H.C.J., Mol, S., Feron, R., de Boer, G.-J., Haring, M.A., Testerink, C., 2014. Capturing Arabidopsis Root Architecture Dynamics with *root-fit* Reveals Diversity in Responses to Salinity. Plant Physiol. 166, 1387. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.114.248963
- Kadota, Y., Sklenar, J., Derbyshire, P., Stransfeld, L., Asai, S., Ntoukakis, V., Jones, J.D., Shirasu, K., Menke, F., Jones, A., Zipfel, C., 2014. Direct Regulation of the NADPH Oxidase RBOHD by the PRR-Associated Kinase BIK1 during Plant Immunity. Mol. Cell 54, 43–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2014.02.021
- Kang, J.X., Weylandt, K.H., 2008. Modulation of Inflammatory Cytokines by Omega-3 Fatty Acids, in: Quinn, P.J., Wang, X. (Eds.), Lipids in Health and Disease. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht, pp. 133–143. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-8831-5_5
- Kannan, N., Neuwald, A.F., 2005. Did Protein Kinase Regulatory Mechanisms Evolve Through Elaboration of a Simple Structural Component? J. Mol. Biol. 351, 956–972. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2005.06.057
- Kärkönen, A., Kuchitsu, K., 2015. Reactive oxygen species in cell wall metabolism and development in plants. Mem. G Paul Bolwell Plant Cell Wall Dyn. 112, 22–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phytochem.2014.09.016
- Katagiri, T., Takahashi, S., Shinozaki, K., 2001. Involvement of a novel Arabidopsis phospholipase D, AtPLDδ, in dehydration-inducible accumulation of phosphatidic acid in stress signalling. Plant J. 26, 595–605. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-313x.2001.01060.x
- Kawa, D., Julkowska, M.M., Sommerfeld, H.M., ter Horst, A., Haring, M.A., Testerink, C., 2016. Phosphate-Dependent Root System Architecture Responses to Salt Stress. Plant Physiol. 172, 690. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.16.00712
- Kaya, H., Nakajima, R., Iwano, M., Kanaoka, M.M., Kimura, S., Takeda, S.,
 Kawarazaki, T., Senzaki, E., Hamamura, Y., Higashiyama, T., Takayama, S.,
 Abe, M., Kuchitsu, K., 2014. Ca2+-activated reactive oxygen species
 production by Arabidopsis RbohH and RbohJ is essential for proper pollen
 tube tip growth. Plant Cell 26, 1069–1080.
 https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.113.120642
- Kaya, H., Takeda, S., Kobayashi, M.J., Kimura, S., Iizuka, A., Imai, A., Hishinuma, H., Kawarazaki, T., Mori, K., Yamamoto, Y., Murakami, Y., Nakauchi, A.,

Abe, M., Kuchitsu, K., 2019. Comparative analysis of the reactive oxygen species-producing enzymatic activity of Arabidopsis NADPH oxidases. Plant J. 98, 291–300. https://doi.org/10.1111/tpj.14212

- Keinath, N.F., Waadt, R., Brugman, R., Schroeder, J.I., Grossmann, G., Schumacher, K., Krebs, M., 2015. Live Cell Imaging with R-GECO1 Sheds Light on flg22- and Chitin-Induced Transient [Ca2+]cyt Patterns in Arabidopsis. Mol. Plant 8, 1188–1200. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molp.2015.05.006
- Kiegle, E., Moore, C.A., Haseloff, J., Tester, M.A., Knight, M.R., 2000. Cell-typespecific calcium responses to drought, salt and cold in the Arabidopsis root. Plant J. 23, 267–278. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-313x.2000.00786.x
- Kiep, V., Vadassery, J., Lattke, J., Maaß, J.-P., Boland, W., Peiter, E., Mithöfer, A., 2015. Systemic cytosolic Ca2+ elevation is activated upon wounding and herbivory in Arabidopsis. New Phytol. 207, 996–1004. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.13493
- Kilaru, A., Herrfurth, C., Keereetaweep, J., Hornung, E., Venables, B.J., Feussner, I., Chapman, K.D., 2011. Lipoxygenase-mediated Oxidation of Polyunsaturated N-Acylethanolamines in Arabidopsis. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 15205–15214. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M110.217588
- Kimura, S., Kaya, H., Kawarazaki, T., Hiraoka, G., Senzaki, E., Michikawa, M., Kuchitsu, K., 2012. Protein phosphorylation is a prerequisite for the Ca2+dependent activation of Arabidopsis NADPH oxidases and may function as a trigger for the positive feedback regulation of Ca2+ and reactive oxygen species. Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA - Mol. Cell Res. 1823, 398–405. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2011.09.011
- Kimura, S., Waszczak, C., Hunter, K., Wrzaczek, M., 2017. Bound by Fate: The Role of Reactive Oxygen Species in Receptor-Like Kinase Signaling. Plant Cell 29, 638. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.16.00947
- Knight, H., Brandt, S., Knight, M.R., 1998. A history of stress alters drought calcium signalling pathways in Arabidopsis. Plant J. 16, 681–687. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-313x.1998.00332.x
- Knight, H., Trewavas, A.J., Knight, M.R., 1997. Calcium signalling in Arabidopsis thaliana responding to drought and salinity. Plant J. 12, 1067–1078. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-313X.1997.12051067.x
- Knight, M.R., Campbell, A.K., Smith, S.M., Trewavas, A.J., 1991. Transgenic plant aequorin reports the effects of touch and cold-shock and elicitors on cytoplasmic calcium. Nature 352, 524–526. https://doi.org/10.1038/352524a0
- Kobayashi, K., Otegui, M.S., Krishnakumar, S., Mindrinos, M., Zambryski, P.,
 2007. INCREASED SIZE EXCLUSION LIMIT2 Encodes a Putative DEVH Box RNA Helicase Involved in Plasmodesmata Function during *Arabidopsis* Embryogenesis. Plant Cell 19, 1885. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.106.045666
- Koch, T., Brandenburg, L.-O., Liang, Y., Schulz, S., Beyer, A., Schröder, H., Höllt, V., 2003. Phospholipase D2 modulates agonist-induced μ-opioid receptor desensitization and resensitization. J. Neurochem. 88, 680–688. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1471-4159.2003.02189.x
- Kooijman, E.E., Chupin, V., de Kruijff, B., Burger, K.N.J., 2003. Modulation of Membrane Curvature by Phosphatidic Acid and Lysophosphatidic Acid. Traffic 4, 162–174. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-0854.2003.00086.x
- Koornneef, M., Meinke, D., 2010. The development of Arabidopsis as a model plant. Plant J. 61, 909–921. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-313X.2009.04086.x

- Kornev, A.P., Haste, N.M., Taylor, S.S., Ten Eyck, L.F., 2006. Surface comparison of active and inactive protein kinases identifies a conserved activation mechanism. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 103, 17783. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0607656103
- Kovtun, Y., Chiu, W.L., Tena, G., Sheen, J., 2000. Functional analysis of oxidative stress-activated mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade in plants. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 97, 2940–2945. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.97.6.2940
- Kragler, F., 2013. Plasmodesmata: intercellular tunnels facilitating transport of macromolecules in plants. Cell Tissue Res. 352, 49–58. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00441-012-1550-1
- Lamb, C., Dixon, R.A., 1997. THE OXIDATIVE BURST IN PLANT DISEASE RESISTANCE. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 48, 251–275. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.arplant.48.1.251
- Lecourieux, D., Lamotte, O., Bourque, S., Wendehenne, D., Mazars, C., Ranjeva, R., Pugin, A., 2005. Proteinaceous and oligosaccharidic elicitors induce different calcium signatures in the nucleus of tobacco cells. Cell Calcium 38, 527–538. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceca.2005.06.036
- Lecourieux, D., Ranjeva, R., Pugin, A., 2006. Calcium in plant defence-signalling pathways. New Phytol. 171, 249–269. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2006.01777.x
- Lee, C.S., Kim, I.S., Park, J.B., Lee, M.N., Lee, H.Y., Suh, P.-G., Ryu, S.H., 2006. The phox homology domain of phospholipase D activates dynamin GTPase activity and accelerates EGFR endocytosis. Nat. Cell Biol. 8, 477.
- Lee, J.-Y., Wang, X., Cui, W., Sager, R., Modla, S., Czymmek, K., Zybaliov, B., van Wijk, K., Zhang, C., Lu, H., Lakshmanan, V., 2011. A Plasmodesmata-Localized Protein Mediates Crosstalk between Cell-to-Cell Communication and Innate Immunity in *Arabidopsis*. Plant Cell 23, 3353. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.111.087742
- Lee, Y., Rubio, M.C., Alassimone, J., Geldner, N., 2013. A Mechanism for Localized Lignin Deposition in the Endodermis. Cell 153, 402–412. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2013.02.045
- Lehti-Shiu, M.D., Zou, C., Hanada, K., Shiu, S.-H., 2009. Evolutionary history and stress regulation of plant receptor-like kinase/pelle genes. Plant Physiol. 150, 12–26. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.108.134353
- Levy, A., Erlanger, M., Rosenthal, M., Epel, B.L., 2007a. A plasmodesmataassociated β -1,3-glucanase in Arabidopsis. Plant J. 49, 669–682. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-313X.2006.02986.x
- Levy, A., Guenoune-Gelbart, D., Epel, B.L., 2007b. β-1,3-Glucanases: Plasmodesmal Gate Keepers for Intercellular Communication. Plant Signal. Behav. 2, 404–407. https://doi.org/10.4161/psb.2.5.4334
- Li, M., Hong, Y., Wang, X., 2009. Phospholipase D- and phosphatidic acid-mediated signaling in plants. Phospholipase D 1791, 927–935. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbalip.2009.02.017
- Li, W., Li, M., Zhang, W., Welti, R., Wang, X., 2004. The plasma membrane–bound phospholipase Dδ enhances freezing tolerance in Arabidopsis thaliana. Nat. Biotechnol. 22, 427–433. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt949
- Li, X., Wang, X., Yang, Y., Li, R., He, Q., Fang, X., Luu, D.-T., Maurel, C., Lin, J., 2011. Single-Molecule Analysis of PIP2;1 Dynamics and Partitioning

Reveals Multiple Modes of *Arabidopsis* Plasma Membrane Aquaporin Regulation. Plant Cell 23, 3780. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.111.091454

- Liang, X., Ding, P., Lian, K., Wang, J., Ma, M., Li, Lin, Li, Lei, Li, M., Zhang, X., Chen, S., Zhang, Y., Zhou, J.-M., 2016. Arabidopsis heterotrimeric G proteins regulate immunity by directly coupling to the FLS2 receptor. eLife 5, e13568. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.13568
- Liu, P.-L., Huang, Y., Shi, P.-H., Yu, M., Xie, J.-B., Xie, L., 2018. Duplication and diversification of lectin receptor-like kinases (LecRLK) genes in soybean. Sci. Rep. 8, 5861. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-24266-6
- Lodish, H., Berk, A., Zipursky, S., et al., 2000. Second Messengers, in: Molecular Cell Biology. W. H. Freeman, New York, p. Section 20.6.
- López-Pérez, L., Martínez-Ballesta, M. del C., Maurel, C., Carvajal, M., 2009. Changes in plasma membrane lipids, aquaporins and proton pump of broccoli roots, as an adaptation mechanism to salinity. Phytochemistry 70, 492–500. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phytochem.2009.01.014
- Luu, D.-T., Martinière, A., Sorieul, M., Runions, J., Maurel, C., 2011. Fluorescence recovery after photobleaching reveals high cycling dynamics of plasma membrane aquaporins in Arabidopsis roots under salt stress. Plant J. 69, 894– 905. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-313X.2011.04841.x
- Ma, L., Zhang, H., Sun, L., Jiao, Y., Zhang, G., Miao, C., Hao, F., 2012. NADPH oxidase AtrohD and AtrohF function in ROS-dependent regulation of Na+/K+ homeostasis in Arabidopsis under salt stress. J. Exp. Bot. 63, 305– 317. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/err280
- Machado, M.R., Serralheiro, P.R., 2017. Soil Salinity: Effect on Vegetable Crop Growth. Management Practices to Prevent and Mitigate Soil Salinization. Horticulturae 3. https://doi.org/10.3390/horticulturae3020030
- Maffei, M., Bossi, S., Spiteller, D., Mithöfer, A., Boland, W., 2004. Effects of Feeding Spodoptera littoralis on Lima Bean Leaves. I. Membrane Potentials, Intracellular Calcium Variations, Oral Secretions, and Regurgitate Components. Plant Physiol. 134, 1752. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.103.034165
- Maintz, J., Cavdar, M., Tamborski, J., Kwaaitaal, M., Huisman, R., Meesters, C., Kombrink, E., Panstruga, R., 2014. Comparative Analysis of MAMP-induced Calcium Influx in Arabidopsis Seedlings and Protoplasts. Plant Cell Physiol. 55, 1813–1825. https://doi.org/10.1093/pcp/pcu112
- Mangano, S., Juárez, S.P.D., Estevez, J.M., 2016. ROS Regulation of Polar Growth in Plant Cells. Plant Physiol. 171, 1593. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.16.00191
- Markham, J.E., Lynch, D.V., Napier, J.A., Dunn, T.M., Cahoon, E.B., 2013. Plant sphingolipids: function follows form. Physiol. Metab. 16, 350–357. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbi.2013.02.009
- McAinsh, M.R., Hetherington, A.M., 1998. Encoding specificity in Ca2+ signalling systems. Trends Plant Sci. 3, 32–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1360-1385(97)01150-3
- McAinsh, M.R., Pittman, J.K., 2009. Shaping the calcium signature. New Phytol. 181, 275–294. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2008.02682.x
- Mithöfer, A., Mazars, C., 2002. Aequorin-based measurements of intracellular Ca2+-signatures in plant cells. Biol. Proced. Online 4, 105–118. https://doi.org/10.1251/bpo40

- Mittler, R., 2006. Abiotic stress, the field environment and stress combination. Trends Plant Sci. 11, 15–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2005.11.002
- Miya, A., Albert, P., Shinya, T., Desaki, Y., Ichimura, K., Shirasu, K., Narusaka, Y., Kawakami, N., Kaku, H., Shibuya, N., 2007. CERK1, a LysM receptor kinase, is essential for chitin elicitor signaling in *Arabidopsis*. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 104, 19613. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0705147104
- Morales, J., Kadota, Y., Zipfel, C., Molina, A., Torres, M.-A., 2016. The Arabidopsis NADPH oxidases RbohD and RbohF display differential expression patterns and contributions during plant immunity. J. Exp. Bot. 67, 1663–1676. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erv558
- Moseyko, N., Feldman, L.J., 2001. Expression of pH-sensitive green fluorescent protein in Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant Cell Environ. 24, 557–563. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-3040.2001.00703.x
- Munnik, T., Testerink, C., 2009. Plant phospholipid signaling: "in a nutshell." J. Lipid Res. 50, S260–S265. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.R800098-JLR200
- Newton, A.C., 2016. Exploitation of Diversity within Crops-the Key to Disease Tolerance? Front. Plant Sci. 7, 665–665. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2016.00665
- Nicolas, W.J., Grison, M.S., Bayer, E.M., 2018. Shaping intercellular channels of plasmodesmata: the structure-to-function missing link. J. Exp. Bot. 69, 91– 103. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erx225
- Noctor, G., Mhamdi, A., Foyer, C.H., 2014. The roles of reactive oxygen metabolism in drought: not so cut and dried. Plant Physiol. 164, 1636–1648. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.113.233478
- Nxele, X., Klein, A., Ndimba, B.K., 2017. Drought and salinity stress alters ROS accumulation, water retention, and osmolyte content in sorghum plants. South Afr. J. Bot. 108, 261–266. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sajb.2016.11.003
- Ogasawara, Y., Kaya, H., Hiraoka, G., Yumoto, F., Kimura, S., Kadota, Y., Hishinuma, H., Senzaki, E., Yamagoe, S., Nagata, K., Nara, M., Suzuki, K., Tanokura, M., Kuchitsu, K., 2008. Synergistic Activation of the Arabidopsis NADPH Oxidase AtrobhD by Ca2+ and Phosphorylation. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 8885–8892. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M708106200
- Okazaki, Y., Saito, K., 2014. Roles of lipids as signaling molecules and mitigators during stress response in plants. Plant J. 79, 584–596. https://doi.org/10.1111/tpj.12556
- O'Lexy, R., Kasai, K., Clark, N., Fujiwara, T., Sozzani, R., Gallagher, K.L., 2018. Exposure to heavy metal stress triggers changes in plasmodesmatal permeability via deposition and breakdown of callose. J. Exp. Bot. 69, 3715– 3728. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/ery171
- Orozco-Cardenas, M., Ryan, C.A., 1999. Hydrogen peroxide is generated systemically in plant leaves by wounding and systemin via the octadecanoid pathway. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 96, 6553–6557. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.96.11.6553
- Pandey, P., Irulappan, V., Bagavathiannan, M.V., Senthil-Kumar, M., 2017. Impact of Combined Abiotic and Biotic Stresses on Plant Growth and Avenues for Crop Improvement by Exploiting Physio-morphological Traits. Front. Plant Sci. 8, 537–537. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2017.00537
- Pappan, K., Qin, W., Dyer, J.H., Zheng, L., Wang, X., 1997a. Molecular Cloning and Functional Analysis of Polyphosphoinositide-dependent Phospholipase

D, PLDβ, from Arabidopsis. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 7055–7061. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.272.11.7055

- Pappan, K., Zheng, S., Wang, X., 1997b. Identification and Characterization of a Novel Plant Phospholipase D That Requires Polyphosphoinositides and Submicromolar Calcium for Activity in Arabidopsis. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 7048–7054. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.272.11.7048
- Pinosa, F., Buhot, N., Kwaaitaal, M., Fahlberg, P., Thordal-Christensen, H., Ellerström, M., Andersson, M.X., 2013. Arabidopsis Phospholipase D& Is Involved in Basal Defense and Nonhost Resistance to Powdery Mildew Fungi. Plant Physiol. 163, 896. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.113.223503
- Potocký, M., Jones, M.A., Bezvoda, R., Smirnoff, N., Žárský, V., 2007. Reactive oxygen species produced by NADPH oxidase are involved in pollen tube growth. New Phytol. 174, 742–751. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2007.02042.x
- Qin, C., Wang, X., 2002. The Arabidopsis Phospholipase D Family. Characterization of a Calcium-Independent and Phosphatidylcholine-Selective PLDζ1 with Distinct Regulatory Domains. Plant Physiol. 128, 1057. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.010928
- Qin, W., Pappan, K., Wang, X., 1997. Molecular Heterogeneity of Phospholipase D (PLD): CLONING OF PLDγ AND REGULATION OF PLANT PLDγ, -β, AND -α BY POLYPHOSPHOINOSITIDES AND CALCIUM. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 28267–28273. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.272.45.28267
- Raad, H., Paclet, M.-H., Boussetta, T., Kroviarski, Y., Morel, F., Quinn, M.T., Gougerot-Pocidalo, M.-A., Dang, P.M.-C., El-Benna, J., 2009. Regulation of the phagocyte NADPH oxidase activity: phosphorylation of gp91phox/NOX2 by protein kinase C enhances its diaphorase activity and binding to Rac2, p67phox, and p47phox. FASEB J. Off. Publ. Fed. Am. Soc. Exp. Biol. 23, 1011–1022. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.08-114553
- Schmidt, R., Kunkowska, A.B., Schippers, J.H.M., 2016. Role of Reactive Oxygen Species during Cell Expansion in Leaves. Plant Physiol. 172, 2098–2106. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.16.00426
- Schulte, A., Lorenzen, I., Böttcher, M., Plieth, C., 2006. A novel fluorescent pH probe for expression in plants. Plant Methods 2, 7. https://doi.org/10.1186/1746-4811-2-7
- Shen, Y., Xu, L., Foster, D.A., 2001. Role for Phospholipase D in Receptor-Mediated Endocytosis. Mol. Cell. Biol. 21, 595. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.21.2.595-602.2001
- Shiu, S.-H., Bleecker, A.B., 2003. Expansion of the Receptor-Like Kinase/Pelle Gene Family and Receptor-Like Proteins in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol. 132, 530. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.103.021964
- Shiu, S.H., Bleecker, A.B., 2001. Receptor-like kinases from Arabidopsis form a monophyletic gene family related to animal receptor kinases. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 98, 10763–10768. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.181141598
- Shrivastava, P., Kumar, R., 2015. Soil salinity: A serious environmental issue and plant growth promoting bacteria as one of the tools for its alleviation. Saudi J. Biol. Sci. 22, 123–131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sjbs.2014.12.001
- Stone, J.M., Walker, J.C., 1995. Plant Protein Kinase Families and Signal Transduction. Plant Physiol. 108, 451. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.108.2.451

- Stonebloom, S., Burch-Smith, T., Kim, I., Meinke, D., Mindrinos, M., Zambryski, P., 2009. Loss of the plant DEAD-box protein ISE1 leads to defective mitochondria and increased cell-to-cell transport via plasmodesmata. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 106, 17229. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0909229106
- Strong, T.C., Kaur, G., Thomas, J.H., 2011. Mutations in the Catalytic Loop HRD Motif Alter the Activity and Function of Drosophila Src64. PLOS ONE 6, e28100. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0028100
- Tanaka, H., Osakabe, Y., Katsura, S., Mizuno, S., Maruyama, K., Kusakabe, K., Mizoi, J., Shinozaki, K., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K., 2012. Abiotic stressinducible receptor-like kinases negatively control ABA signaling in Arabidopsis. Plant J. 70, 599–613. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-313X.2012.04901.x
- Tenhaken, R., 2015. Cell wall remodeling under abiotic stress. Front. Plant Sci. 5, 771. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2014.00771
- Testerink, C., Munnik, T., 2005. Phosphatidic acid: a multifunctional stress signaling lipid in plants. Trends Plant Sci. 10, 368–375. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2005.06.002
- Thakur, R., Panda, A., Coessens, E., Raj, N., Yadav, S., Balakrishnan, S., Zhang, Q., Georgiev, P., Basak, B., Pasricha, R., Wakelam, M.J., Ktistakis, N.T., Raghu, P., 2016. Phospholipase D activity couples plasma membrane endocytosis with retromer dependent recycling. eLife 5, e18515. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.18515
- Thor, K., Peiter, E., 2014. Cytosolic calcium signals elicited by the pathogenassociated molecular pattern flg22 in stomatal guard cells are of an oscillatory nature. New Phytol. 204, 873–881. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.13064
- Tilsner, J., Nicolas, W., Rosado, A., Bayer, E.M., 2016. Staying Tight: Plasmodesmal Membrane Contact Sites and the Control of Cell-to-Cell Connectivity in Plants. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 67, 337–364. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-arplant-043015-111840
- Tracy, F.E., Gilliham, M., Dodd, A.N., Webb, A.A.R., Tester, M., 2008. NaClinduced changes in cytosolic free Ca2+ in Arabidopsis thaliana are heterogeneous and modified by external ionic composition. Plant Cell Environ. 31, 1063–1073. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3040.2008.01817.x
- Tsuda, K., Katagiri, F., 2010. Comparing signaling mechanisms engaged in patterntriggered and effector-triggered immunity. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 13, 459– 465. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbi.2010.04.006
- Ueda, M., Tsutsumi, N., Fujimoto, M., 2016. Salt stress induces internalization of plasma membrane aquaporin into the vacuole in Arabidopsis thaliana. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 474, 742–746. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2016.05.028
- Vaahtera, L., Brosché, M., Wrzaczek, M., Kangasjärvi, J., 2014. Specificity in ROS signaling and transcript signatures. Antioxid. Redox Signal. 21, 1422–1441. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2013.5662
- Vaattovaara, A., Brandt, B., Rajaraman, S., Safronov, O., Veidenberg, A., Luklová, M., Kangasjärvi, J., Löytynoja, A., Hothorn, M., Salojärvi, J., Wrzaczek, M., 2019. Mechanistic insights into the evolution of DUF26-containing proteins in land plants. Commun. Biol. 2, 56. https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-019-0306-9

- Vatén, A., Dettmer, J., Wu, S., Stierhof, Y.-D., Miyashima, S., Yadav, S.R., Roberts, C.J., Campilho, A., Bulone, V., Lichtenberger, R., Lehesranta, S., Mähönen, A.P., Kim, J.-Y., Jokitalo, E., Sauer, N., Scheres, B., Nakajima, K., Carlsbecker, A., Gallagher, K.L., Helariutta, Y., 2011. Callose Biosynthesis Regulates Symplastic Trafficking during Root Development. Dev. Cell 21, 1144–1155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2011.10.006
- Verrillo, F., Occhipinti, A., Kanchiswamy, C.N., Maffei, M.E., 2014. Quantitative analysis of herbivore-induced cytosolic calcium by using a Cameleon (YC 3.6) calcium sensor in Arabidopsis thaliana. J. Plant Physiol. 171, 136–139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jplph.2013.09.020
- Vincent, T.R., Canham, J., Toyota, M., Avramova, M., Mugford, S.T., Gilroy, S., Miller, A.J., Hogenhout, S., Sanders, D., 2017. Real-time In Vivo Recording of Arabidopsis Calcium Signals During Insect Feeding Using a Fluorescent Biosensor. J. Vis. Exp. JoVE 56142. https://doi.org/10.3791/56142
- Wan, J., Zhang, X.-C., Neece, D., Ramonell, K.M., Clough, S., Kim, S.-Y., Stacey, M.G., Stacey, G., 2008. A LysM receptor-like kinase plays a critical role in chitin signaling and fungal resistance in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell 20, 471–481. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.107.056754
- Wang, C., Wang, X., 2001. A Novel Phospholipase D of Arabidopsis That Is Activated by Oleic Acid and Associated with the Plasma Membrane. Plant Physiol. 127, 1102. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.010444
- Wang, C., Zien, C.A., Afitlhile, M., Welti, R., Hildebrand, D.F., Wang, X., 2000. Involvement of phospholipase D in wound-induced accumulation of jasmonic acid in arabidopsis. Plant Cell 12, 2237–2246.
- Wang, X., 2005. Regulatory Functions of Phospholipase D and Phosphatidic Acid in Plant Growth, Development, and Stress Responses. Plant Physiol. 139, 566. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.105.068809
- Wang, X., Li, W., Li, M., Welti, R., 2006. Profiling lipid changes in plant response to low temperatures. Physiol. Plant. 126, 90–96. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-3054.2006.00622.x
- War, A.R., Paulraj, M.G., Ahmad, T., Buhroo, A.A., Hussain, B., Ignacimuthu, S., Sharma, H.C., 2012. Mechanisms of plant defense against insect herbivores. Plant Signal. Behav. 7, 1306–1320. https://doi.org/10.4161/psb.21663
- War, A.R., Taggar, G.K., Hussain, B., Taggar, M.S., Nair, R.M., Sharma, H.C., 2018. Plant defence against herbivory and insect adaptations. AoB PLANTS 10. https://doi.org/10.1093/aobpla/ply037
- Waszczak, C., Carmody, M., Kangasjärvi, J., 2018. Reactive Oxygen Species in Plant Signaling. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 69, 209–236. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-arplant-042817-040322
- White, R.G., Barton, D.A., 2011. The cytoskeleton in plasmodesmata: a role in intercellular transport? J. Exp. Bot. 62, 5249–5266. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/err227
- Wirthmueller, L., Maqbool, A., Banfield, M.J., 2013. On the front line: structural insights into plant–pathogen interactions. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 11, 761.
- Wolanin, P.M., Thomason, P.A., Stock, J.B., 2002. Histidine protein kinases: key signal transducers outside the animal kingdom. Genome Biol. 3, reviews3013.1. https://doi.org/10.1186/gb-2002-3-10-reviews3013
- World Meteorological Organization, 2019. WMO Statement on the State of the Global Climate in 2018.

- Wrzaczek, M., Brosché, M., Salojärvi, J., Kangasjärvi, S., Idänheimo, N., Mersmann, S., Robatzek, S., Karpiński, S., Karpińska, B., Kangasjärvi, J., 2010. Transcriptional regulation of the CRK/DUF26 group of Receptor-like protein kinases by ozone and plant hormones in Arabidopsis. BMC Plant Biol. 10, 95. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2229-10-95
- Wu, J., Seliskar, D.M., Gallagher, J.L., 1998. Stress tolerance in the marsh plant Spartina patens: Impact of NaCl on growth and root plasma membrane lipid composition. Physiol. Plant. 102, 307–317. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1399-3054.1998.1020219.x
- Xie, B., Deng, Y., Kanaoka, M.M., Okada, K., Hong, Z., 2012. Expression of Arabidopsis callose synthase 5 results in callose accumulation and cell wall permeability alteration. Plant Sci. 183, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plantsci.2011.10.015
- Yadeta, K.A., Elmore, J.M., Creer, A.Y., Feng, B., Franco, J.Y., Rufian, J.S., He, P., Phinney, B., Coaker, G., 2017. A Cysteine-Rich Protein Kinase Associates with a Membrane Immune Complex and the Cysteine Residues Are Required for Cell Death. Plant Physiol. 173, 771. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.16.01404
- Yang, Y., Guo, Y., 2017. Elucidating the molecular mechanisms mediating plant salt-stress responses. New Phytol. 217, 523–539. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.14920
- Yeh, Y.-H., Chang, Y.-H., Huang, P.-Y., Huang, J.-B., Zimmerli, L., 2015. Enhanced Arabidopsis pattern-triggered immunity by overexpression of cysteine-rich receptor-like kinases. Front. Plant Sci. 6, 322. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2015.00322
- Yun, B.-W., Feechan, A., Yin, M., Saidi, N.B.B., Le Bihan, T., Yu, M., Moore, J.W., Kang, J.-G., Kwon, E., Spoel, S.H., Pallas, J.A., Loake, G.J., 2011. Snitrosylation of NADPH oxidase regulates cell death in plant immunity. Nature 478, 264.
- Zhang, L., Wang, J.-C., Hou, L., Cao, P.-R., Wu, L., Zhang, Q.-S., Yang, H.-Y., Zang, Y., Ding, J.-P., Li, J., 2015. Functional Role of Histidine in the Conserved His-x-Asp Motif in the Catalytic Core of Protein Kinases. Sci. Rep. 5, 10115.
- Zhang, Q., Lin, F., Mao, T., Nie, J., Yan, M., Yuan, M., Zhang, W., 2012. Phosphatidic Acid Regulates Microtubule Organization by Interacting with MAP65-1 in Response to Salt Stress in *Arabidopsis*. Plant Cell 24, 4555. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.112.104182
- Zhang, Q., Qu, Y., Wang, Q., Song, P., Wang, P., Jia, Q., Guo, J., 2017. Arabidopsis phospholipase D alpha 1-derived phosphatidic acid regulates microtubule organization and cell development under microtubule-interacting drugs treatment. J. Plant Res. 130, 193–202. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10265-016-0870-8
- Zhang, X., Han, X., Shi, R., Yang, G., Qi, L., Wang, R., Li, G., 2013a. Arabidopsis cysteine-rich receptor-like kinase 45 positively regulates disease resistance to Pseudomonas syringae. Plant Physiol. Biochem. 73, 383–391. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2013.10.024
- Zhang, X., Yang, G., Shi, R., Han, X., Qi, L., Wang, R., Xiong, L., Li, G., 2013b. Arabidopsis cysteine-rich receptor-like kinase 45 functions in the responses to abscisic acid and abiotic stresses. Plant Physiol. Biochem. 67, 189–198. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2013.03.013

- Zhang, Y., Zhu, H., Zhang, Q., Li, M., Yan, M., Wang, R., Wang, L., Welti, R., Zhang, W., Wang, X., 2009. Phospholipase dalpha1 and phosphatidic acid regulate NADPH oxidase activity and production of reactive oxygen species in ABA-mediated stomatal closure in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell 21, 2357–2377. https://doi.org/10.1105/tpc.108.062992
- Zhao, J., Devaiah, S.P., Wang, C., Li, M., Welti, R., Wang, X., 2013. Arabidopsis phospholipase Dβ1 modulates defense responses to bacterial and fungal pathogens. New Phytol. 199, 228–240. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.12256
- Zhao, W., Hanson, L., Lou, H.-Y., Akamatsu, M., Chowdary, P.D., Santoro, F., Marks, J.R., Grassart, A., Drubin, D.G., Cui, Y., Cui, B., 2017. Nanoscale manipulation of membrane curvature for probing endocytosis in live cells. Nat. Nanotechnol. 12, 750–756. https://doi.org/10.1038/nnano.2017.98
- Zhu, J.-K., 2016. Abiotic Stress Signaling and Responses in Plants. Cell 167, 313– 324. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2016.08.029
- Zipfel, C., Kunze, G., Chinchilla, D., Caniard, A., Jones, J.D.G., Boller, T., Felix, G., 2006. Perception of the Bacterial PAMP EF-Tu by the Receptor EFR Restricts Agrobacterium-Mediated Transformation. Cell 125, 749–760. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2006.03.037
- Zulawski, M., Schulze, G., Braginets, R., Hartmann, S., Schulze, W.X., 2014. The Arabidopsis Kinome: phylogeny and evolutionary insights into functional diversification. BMC Genomics 15, 548. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-15-548